### **Teacher Empowerment and China's Curriculum Reform:**

### To What Extent Do Teachers Feel Empowered by

### **Chinese Curriculum Reform?**

### —A Case Study Based on Dalian No. 24 Senior High School

by

### XIAO WANG

B.A., Northeast Normal University, 2008B.B.A., Northeast Normal University, 2008LL.M., Northeast Normal University, 2013

# A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

### **MASTER OF ARTS**

in

The Faculty of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies

(Curriculum Studies)

#### THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

(Vancouver)

October 2013

© Xiao Wang, 2013

## **Abstract**

This study examines the enactment of teacher empowerment in Dalian No. 24 Senior High School within the context of the current Chinese Curriculum Reform Movement (CRM). A review of current Chinese and American literature on teacher empowerment was given to provide a background to better understand specific issues that impact teacher empowerment. Additionally, a qualitative case study on this leading Chinese high school is presented with the aim of raising awareness of teacher empowerment involving Chinese curricular reform. Data collection included a literature review, semi-structured open-ended interviews and surveys. Face-to-face interviews and questionnaire surveys were conducted at Dalian No. 24 Senior High School.

Accordingly, this study aims to provide practical insights on issues affecting teacher empowerment as applicable to Dalian No. 24 Senior High School. Two additional purposes of the study are to build on the existing, but limited, research knowledge in this area and to provide avenues for future inquiry.

Results from this study highlight the benefits of teacher empowerment, including increased performance and productivity, improved teacher morale, and increased knowledge of subject matter and pedagogy. At Dalian No. 24 Senior High School, three key issues were discovered: first, most of the teacher participants hold a positive attitude towards teacher empowerment and the latest National Curriculum Reform (NCR); second, this school holds a supportive environment to teacher empowerment and teachers' professional development; and third, there are still drawbacks to implementing teacher

empowerment and the changes required by the NCR that the teachers and the school need to address.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	ii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Tables	vi
List of Figures	vii
Acknowledgement	viii
Dedication	ix
1 Introduction	1
1.1 Backgrounds	3
1.1.1 Timeline of China's National Curriculum Reform	3
1.1.2 Curriculum Reform, Teacher Empowerment and Teacher Professional Development	5
1.2 Necessity of Teacher Empowerment	13
1.3 Research Questions	15
1.4 Overview of Method	16
1.5 Limitations of the Study	17
1.6 Thesis Outline	18
2 Literature Review	21
2.1 Theoretical and Practical Significance	21
2.2 Teacher Empowerment	23
2.3 Development of Teacher Empowerment	26
2.3.1 The Embryotic Period (From Early 1980s to Early 1990s)	26
2.3.2 The Developing Period (Early 1990s to Present)	28
2.4 Influencing Factors on Teacher Empowerment	32
2.4.1 Teachers' Job Satisfaction	33
2.4.2 Decision-making	
2.4.3 Teachers' Roles in Curriculum Development	37
2.4.4 Teachers' Professional Development	40
2.4.5 School and Organizational Culture	42
2.4.6 School Curriculum Leadership and Teacher Empowerment	44
2.4.7 Support from School Leaders	45
2.5 Curriculum Development and Teacher Empowerment	47
2.6 Further Issues of Research on Teacher Empowerment	50
2.6.1 Theoretical Research More Than Empirical Research	51
2.6.2 Macro Research More Than Micro Research	51
2.7 Summary	52
3 Methodology	53
3.1 Introduction	53
3.2 Data and Methods	53
3.2.1 The Interviews	53
3.2.2 The Follow-up Questionnaire Survey	55
3.3 The Case Study	55

3.4 Context	56
3.5 Research Participants	59
3.5.1 Interview Participants	59
3.5.2 Survey Participants	61
3.6 The Pilot Interview	61
3.7 Data Collection	62
3.8 Data Analysis	63
4 Findings	66
4.1 Introduction	66
4.2 Data Analysis	67
4.2.1 Teacher Empowerment through School-affairs Decision-making	70
4.2.2 Empower Teachers by Giving Curriculum Power	74
4.2.3 Interpretation of Empowerment in terms of Teachers' Experience	81
4.2.4 Factors Influencing Teachers Empowerment	86
4.3 Teachers' Attitudes towards Teacher Empowerment and NCR	96
4.3.1 Attitude of Low-acceptance	97
4.3.2 Attitude of Acceptance	98
4.3.3 Differences between Low-acceptance and Acceptance	100
4.3.4 Responsibility of Teacher Empowerment and Teachers' Attitudes	104
4.4 Existing Problems in Teacher Empowerment	105
4.4.1 Teachers' Education Ability Should be Improved	105
4.4.2 The Lack of Teacher Empowerment and Low Self-efficacy	109
4.4.3 Teachers' Curriculum Creation Power is Facing Difficulties	109
4.4.4 Principals' Understandings of Teacher Empowerment Needs to be Further Improved	111
4.4.5 Teachers' Awareness of Collaboration Needs to be Further Improved	112
4.5 Summary	113
5 Conclusions	115
5.1 A Review of This Study	115
5.2 Conclusions	118
References:	124
Appendix A: Interview Outline:	
Appendix B: Sample of interview transcripts	140

# **List of Tables**

Table 1 Interviewees' Information.	53
Table 2 Huberman's Teacher Career Cycle	
Table 3 Understanding Teacher Empowerment	

# **List of Figures**

Figure 1 Aerial view of Dalian No. 24 Senior High School	51
Figure 2 An Office Building of Dalian No. 24 Senior High School	
Figure 3 Classroom Setting of Dalian No. 24 Senior High School	

# Acknowledgement

I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Anthony Clarke, and my other committee members Dr. Penney Clark and Dr. William Pinar for their guidance and encouragement. Their great patience supports me throughout the research and thesis writing process. Their professional knowledge guided me to keep improving my research.

I am also grateful to the school administrators, teachers, and students in Dalian No.24 Senior High School. This study could not be accomplished without their collaboration.

Special thanks go to my husband and parents for supporting and encouraging me to pursue further in the field of education.

# To my parents

# 1 Introduction

Teacher empowerment is a critical issue in Chinese educational reform with profound cultural implications and urgent practical needs. As a way for teachers to have greater decision-making authority and to promote their own professional development, teacher empowerment encourages teachers to attain professional autonomy. When schools and teachers properly implement the new curriculum guidelines, it is hoped that teachers will be enabled to implement new teacher-driven pedagogies within the context of a government-mandated curriculum, and will also be able to become more involved in school affairs and decision-making processes.

This thesis argues that teacher empowerment is an essential component in education reform in China, and results from the following qualitative case study examine this at a local level. By drawing from research on the present teaching conditions in China, and adding additional localized qualitative research, this thesis seeks to highlight key issues in relation to the traditional hierarchy of power within this school, and discuss key problems that have arisen from the China's National Curriculum Reform's (NCR) mandate. Through comparative analysis with the United States' education reforms, this thesis also seeks to delineate practicable solutions to issues arising from a centralized authority and other obstacles to implementing curriculum reform.

Despite a new push toward teacher empowerment, China is still functioning under an

education system built upon traditional education methods. In China, the curriculum is dictated by the National Ministry of Education, the government department that regulates Chinese education, not by teachers or by school officials. The planning and designing of curricula are the responsibilities of the Ministry 'experts', most of whom have high academic qualifications but often no real teaching experience (Li, 2004). Consequently, schoolteachers are unable to act as the primary interpreters of education and providers of curriculum, their experience and knowledge being mostly disregarded or ignored. Therefore, it is important to re-examine teachers' roles within the context of education reform in light of new pedagogies in the classroom. And while Chen Yuting has argued that only top-down management can produce teacher empowerment, research shows that many other factors are complicit in education reform (Chen & Walsh, 2008).

Furthermore, due to longstanding traditional practice, a hierarchy of power is firmly entrenched in China's education system (Rong, 2005). The Ministry directs principals and principals then direct teachers. This top-down decision-making structure reinforces hierarchical relationships between educators and further constrains teacher empowerment (Cai, 2003).

To compound these issues, research on teacher empowerment has mainly been done with a generalized perspective rather than through in-depth studies. Therefore, a lack of information has constrained the potential of teacher empowerment and related reform efforts in China.

The following sections explore these issues in more detail:

## 1.1 Backgrounds

### 1.1.1 Timeline of China's National Curriculum Reform

In January of 1999, the Chinese National Ministry of Education (the "Ministry") issued an "Action Plan for Education Revitalization in the 21st Century" and announced that the Third National Education Work Conference would take place in June of that year. The Ministry subsequently organized education experts to begin preparing the Basic Education Curriculum Reform. In 2001, the Ministry issued a document entitled "Outline of Basic Education Curriculum Reform (Trial)". The Ministry also issued the "Experimental Plan for Curriculum Creation for Compulsory Education" in what was deemed the Experimental Districts. In addition, the Ministry issued new curriculum standards for the following 18 subjects in full-time Compulsory Education Schools: Chinese, math, English, Japanese, Russian, science (Grade 3 to 6), science (Grade 7 to 9), history, History and Society (1), History and Society (2), geography, physics, chemistry, biology, arts, music, painting and drawing, and physical education.

In 2003, after two years of trial and experimentation, the Ministry made changes to the following: curriculum implementation plans for the compulsory education years, curriculum standards of various subjects, the "Local Curriculum Management Guide", the "Schools Curriculum Management Guide", and exam reforms in elementary schools

and middle schools. All these changes were to increase teachers' participation in curriculum reform. (Fu, 2001)

In April of 2003, the Ministry issued a new curriculum plan for Chinese high schools and trial curriculum standards for the following 15 subjects: Chinese, English, Japanese, Russian, math, physics, chemistry, biology, history, geography, technical skills, art, music, painting and drawing, physical education and health. In September of 2004, the New Curriculum Plan for Chinese high schools came into effect. Curriculum targets, structural content, and curriculum categories of basic education were changed significantly (Ministry of Education, 2001).

A central aim to these changes is to create a new basic education curriculum that is consistent with the requirements of Quality Education (Ministry of Education, 2001). The goal would be achieved through redeveloping training methods for preparing students, promoting students to focus on practical abilities and encouraging students to be more creative (Ministry of Education, 2001). This is the most significant reform since 1949, in terms of the reform's potential impact on teachers and students and the efforts contributed by various parties. This reform purports to be based on the most modern ideas and theories of education.

# 1.1.2 Curriculum Reform, Teacher Empowerment and Teacher Professional Development

Since 1949, including the most recent NCR in 2001, China has conducted eight curriculum reforms in basic education, which include pre-primary education, primary education and secondary education mostly from the 7th grade onwards. During this period, Chinese curriculum reform, related to various modernization and post-modernization imperatives, served different goals including political, economic, scientific and technological development (Li & Xu, 2004).

The NRC intended to bring forward a series of fundamental changes to the entire Chinese curricular system, including changes to curriculum objectives, content, organization, teaching, and assessment. Compared with the former curriculum reforms, which purely focused on curriculum contents, the NCR emphasizes on the idea of student-centered curriculum. It aims to develop a sound system which will promote students' all-round development, teachers' professional development and effective curriculum evaluation system. There are six main components in the NCR, including curriculum system, curriculum management, curriculum evaluation, curriculum implementation, curriculum management and curriculum arrangement. The NCR Compendium, which was released in 2001, and came into effect in 2003, defined the following objectives as the new guidelines for classroom teaching (Ministry of Education, 2001):

- changing the teaching and learning focus from basic knowledge and skills to critical thinking, problem solving and creativity;
- changing teacher-centered teaching modes to more student-centered modes, with more emphases on student engagement and attitudes;
- applying learned content to real life contexts;
- cultivating a sense of social responsibility, sharing, cooperation and communication;
- establishing an assessment system that encourages both an all-round and individual development of students;
- promoting a greater variety of textbooks as well as diversified learning resources;
- implementing a three-level curriculum administration system that involves coordination and communication structures amongst and within national, provincial and school levels; and
- developing a systematic and sustained form of teachers' professional development.

In order to support teachers' professional development, the concept of "teacher empowerment" gained increasing popularity in the field of Chinese education during this period. In a search for the phrase "teacher empowerment" in the CNKI, China National Knowledge Infrastructure—one of the most authoritative and largest source of China-based information in the world, reflecting the latest developments in Chinese politics, economics, humanity and social science, science and technology—3515 results were found. Searching for "teacher empowerment" and "curriculum reform" in the CNKI,

2425 results were found, with the majority from universities and educational research institutions.

When the concept of "teacher empowerment" was introduced to China from Western countries for the first time in the early 2000's, its core idea conflicted with the dominant views on education and curriculum management. Until now, from the planning to the implementation level, education reform has operated within a strict top-down hierarchy while largely ignoring the perspectives of the teachers who are expected to implement the reforms (Guan & Meng, 2007).

The reason why "teacher empowerment" has recently had such a strong appeal in Chinese educational reform is that it addresses the fear of failure to achieve the Ministry's desired ends (Cao & Lu, 2006; Li, 2008). The literature notes that when teachers become leaders and executors rather than technicians, the education reforms will be realized (Muijs & Harris, 2003). A lack of teacher empowerment is regarded as one of the more serious deficiencies in the implementation of the current NCR effort (Wang, 2005).

In recent years, with the introduction of the concept of teacher professionalization as noted in the NCR, teacher empowerment has gained popularity as an essential factor in curriculum development and research as well as teacher development in China. Since the implementation of the Chinese NCR in 2001, words and concepts such as "teacher

empowerment," "teachers' rights," "curriculum power" and "teacher professionalization" have appeared more frequently in Chinese educational research literature (Cheng & Ma, 2008; Ding, 2001; Fu, 2001; Li, 2004; Li, 2008; Rong, 2005; Wang, 2005; Wang & Pan, 2000; Wu, 2006; Xu, 2004; Ye, 2001; Zhang, 2003; Zhang, 2005). This indicates a changing culture in education in China. However, there are still significant obstacles to effectively implement such reforms.

Research indicates that "Teacher empowerment" has been recognized as a key component to revitalizing education in developed Western countries (Short & Rineheat, 1992; Lawson & Harrison, 1990; Prawat, 1991; Wilson & Coolican, 1996; Lichtenstein, Mclauglin & Knudsen, 1992; Midgley & wood, 1993; Moye, Henkin & Egley, 2005; Melenyzer, 1990; Maeroff, 1998). Empowering teachers, getting them involved in the decision-making process for school affairs and the creation of curricula have positive effects, including improving independence of learning and professional knowledge and skills development, enabling teachers to participate in school wide decision-making.

Research points out that many teachers also believe their independence promotes their school's development, as a cultural institution as well as its academic reputation mainly due to the fact that teachers can tailor their instruction to bring out the better qualities of their students. In this sense, a higher quality educational system can be realized (Thornburg & Mungai, 2011). Where teacher empowerment is emphasized, especially when a school-based curriculum is implemented, Chinese teachers have

exercised more autonomy than ever to promising results (Lee et. al, 2011). Governmental and educational institutions now pay more attention to teachers' subjectivity in regards to educational practices and encourage teacher self-inquiry to increase the teachers' professional development. However, in an era of heightened requirements for teachers' professional capacity, China has not, in terms of full teacher development, met the requirement for its education goals on either theoretical or practical grounds (Guan & Meng, 2007).

The final target of the NCR is to promote the quality of students' learning as opposed to solely pursuing high exam scores as was formerly the case. Requirements for teachers are meant to change accordingly. A central aim of the NCR is to develop a systematic approach to teachers' professional development that responds to this shift (Ministry of Education, 2001). To fulfill this requirement, teachers need to be empowered to respond creatively to the NCR objectives. Although the phrase "teacher empowerment" does not appear in the official documents of the Ministry of Education, related interpretation documents and research on curriculum reform places much emphasis on it (Ding, 2001; Fu, 2001; Li, 2004; Li, 2008; Rong, 2005). This point is taken up in greater detail in the Literature Review section.

#### 1.1.2.1 The Impact of the Emphasis of Final Exams on Teacher Empowerment

A major focus of traditional Chinese teaching is on examination skills training.

Because of this, classroom teaching is centered on the pursuit of high test scores. Education has become a process of teachers giving students extensive and repetitive exercises that mimic the final examination. A situation frequently occurring in a typical Chinese classroom is that teachers present the information, while students answer the questions in textbooks by memorizing, copying and endlessly practicing exam-like questions. In short, teachers are technicians more than curriculum interpreters. In such an education model, students have to face endless worksheets with countless exam preparation questions. The only way teachers assess the quality of learning is through the traditional paper-based examination, which has failed to encourage students to seek a complete understanding and practical application of the knowledge they are learning (Ma et. al, 2008). A consequence of this highly traditional and technical education model is that teachers feel disempowered and also lack incentives to be creative or innovative in the classroom. The ancient Greek scholar, Plutarch, once said that the mind is not a container to be filled up, but a torch to be lit. In this sense, learning resides with the learners.

The job of the teacher, then, is not to transfer knowledge, but to help the learners discover, organize and manage knowledge; to guide them rather than to mold them. In the NCR, teachers are asked to take more responsibility in this regard. In the NCR guidelines, teachers are asked to actively interact and seek mutual development with students; to respect students' individual differences, meet the demands of students' and scientifically

lead them to develop by themselves; to develop new mode of teaching in the class; to diversify evaluation method on students' achievements, etc. (Ministry of Education, 2001). From this perspective, the traditional education model is no longer sufficient to meet the new requirements outlined in the NCR guidelines. Even though the NCR requires changes to be made and more freedom to be given to teachers in terms of teaching styles, as well as protocols that imply greater classroom autonomy, the unrelenting pressure from examinations remains.

China's traditional approach to evaluation is a system rooted in a technical rational approach to education (Cui, 2000). The ultimate target of school education, for all practical purposes, is still to achieve high scores on college entrance examinations. This is the central irony of current NCR efforts: a future-oriented, quality education measured by antagonistic methods. When traditional methods are de-emphasized as the sole assessment of knowledge, teachers can be more empowered to explore comprehension, understanding, and creativity in their classroom (Wang & Pan, 2000).

### 1.1.2.2 The Impact of a Top-down Model on Teacher Empowerment

Besides traditional examinations, there is another problem that has constrained teacher empowerment. Essentially, China is still using a "top-down" model in its implementation of curricula; authorities and experts take control of designing the curriculum, while teachers are seen as the executors of their directives. Because of this

model, the content of school teaching is strictly controlled by the national education system. Therefore, the planning and designing of curriculum have been the responsibility of "experts", most of whom have little experience in the classroom (Li, 2004). Thus, teachers are not recognized as the dominant interpreters of curricula and their experience and knowledge is largely ignored in its design. To achieve substantial professional development and teaching professionalization within the context of the NCR, it is not enough for administrators to be the only decision-makers. The teacher's role in the NCR and professional development needs to be re-examined (Moore, 1997). When teachers play a greater role as leaders in both education reform and their own professional development, the potential of the current education reform efforts are more likely to be realized.

To establish and strengthen the position of teachers as dominant interpreters of the curricula in educational reform and in their own professional development there is a need for the following (Mcconnell, 1989)

- new initiatives to be taken by education administration and school leaders in terms of teachers' professional development;
- real support for teachers to question and challenge the status quo and hierarchical decision-making;
- exposure to and acknowledgement of varied opinions on different educational values and attitudes; and

 keen insight to discover the underlying problems behind obstacles to teacher empowerment

### 1.2 Necessity of Teacher Empowerment

Since the information revolution began, and due to the technological changes in industrial structures, education has gained unprecedented attention by governments around the world (UNESCO, 1996). Education reform has become an important method for governments to maintain their own political and economic interests (Hu, 2009). In the past two decades, for example, the United States has undergone three education reforms. The first one mainly reflected the centralization of management, paying attention to the promotion of standards and improvement of teachers' content knowledge. The second one emphasized the empowerment of teachers and instituted school-based management reforms. The third one highlighted a comprehensive systematic school restructuring, the standards-based reform movement. This movement culminated, for example, in the "No Child Left Behind Act" at the beginning of the 21st century in the US.

The governments of the United Kingdom, the Netherlands, France, Germany, Japan and other countries have developed similar curriculum standards documents, setting off a new round of basic education and curriculum reform (Zhong et al, 2001). During the implementation of their new curriculum, teachers' professional ability has become an important focus and more attention has been given to the process of teachers'

empowerment and professionalization. In the mid-1980s, the Holmes Group and the Carnegie Task Force on Teaching as a Profession issued two reports: *Teachers for the 21st century* and *What Matters Most: Teaching for America's Future*. These two reports set off the so-called "second wave" of American education reform and focused on teachers' 'professionalization.' Specifically, they put more emphasis on the influence of a school's internal factors in regards to the improvement of educational quality through empowering teachers. As a result, teacher empowerment has become a central tenet to American education reform.

In the 1980s, China initiated education reforms in order to implement a quality-focused education. In 2001, a larger scale of basic education reform was launched in primary, secondary and senior high schools. This reform aimed to teach students "how to learn" not just "what to learn", gradually adjusting and reforming the current basic curriculum, structure and content. During the reconstruction of the curriculum, teachers' roles and teaching behaviors were expected to change accordingly. Teachers who used to be passive implementers of curriculum and teaching plans were expected to become teacher researchers, curriculum developers and knowledge facilitators. After the disappointing results of several failed Chinese curriculum reform efforts people realized that the new curricula did not fail because of unscientific plans; rather, the practice of curriculum reform has not really endured because it ignored teachers' status and professional autonomy in the classroom (Wang, 2005). Teachers should not only

participate in curriculum planning, selection and implementation, but also in curriculum construction and development. This would constitute an important aspect to teacher empowerment in China (Li & Duan, 2004).

However, under China's current education management and curriculum decision-making system, it seems unrealistic for teachers to develop curriculum fully and independently from other elements in the school system (Zhou, 2004). But based on teachers' theoretical knowledge and practical experience, this target can be achieved by teachers' appropriate adjustments and contributions to the overall curriculum planning processes.

To increase teachers' autonomy related to curriculum development, it is necessary to give teachers decision-making power based on the requirements of the NCR. In relation to the actual classroom practice and students' personal situations, teachers can create personalized practices, choose the form of teaching, and organize classroom activities that involve self-reflection and self-development goals. In this sense, in the implementation of the new curriculum, teacher empowerment becomes a prerequisite for realizing the NCR targets

# 1.3 Research Questions

This study intends to determine how teacher empowerment works in the context of the Chinese NCR and what advantages and drawbacks are. After researching literature from both China and North America, four questions related to high school teachers' empowerment in the Chinese NCR are raised in the course of this study which involves forty-four teachers (ten teacher respondent interviews, two administrators respondents interviews, and thirty-two teacher respondents surveys) in one school in Dalian:

- 1. What is teacher empowerment, especially in the context of Chinese current National Curriculum Reform?
- 2. What are teachers' experiences and attitudes towards teacher empowerment and Chinese current National Curriculum Reform?
- 3. What are the factors that influence teacher empowerment in the context of Chinese current National Curriculum Reform?
- 4. Is there a conflict between efforts to introduce teacher empowerment and the current education system? If so, what is the nature and substance of this conflict from the Chinese teachers' perspective?

The final three questions constitute the qualitative empirical inquiry undertaken in this study.

# 1.4 Overview of Method

The research was conducted using a qualitative approach. Interviews with Dalian No. 24 Senior High School (Dalian No. 24) teachers (including ten teachers from different grades and two administrators) comprised the main research methods. After composing

the original draft of interview questions, a pilot interview was completed to examine the feasibility of the questions for eliciting the necessary data. Appropriate adjustments (such as the adjustment of the interview questions and methods of carrying on the conversation) were made after the pilot study to make the interview questions and the interview process more relevant and valid. Subsequent interview transcripts were saved in a coded digital file for review. Data interpretations and conclusions were confirmed with respondents from whom the data were originally obtained (member checking), and followed after the transcriptions of interviews were completed. The analysis of the transcripts used the constant comparative method (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). During the process of data analysis, the author recognized that the sample size of this research was too limited. Accordingly, fifty questionnaires based on interview questions were randomly issued within the school to give the author a more encompassing impression of teachers' experiences towards teacher empowerment and NCR of Dalian No. 24 Senior High School. Thirty-two completed responses were considered appropriate for providing additional background information for this study.

# 1.5 Limitations of the Study

This study was conducted at only one school in Dalian, China. Because of the limitation of the time and sample size, the results are not thorough or extensive enough for wider application. And while Dalian No. 24 is a leading school in its district, further testing and research needs to be done to allow a broader application of the outcomes.

Additionally, this study may be limited by respondents' preexisting attitudes toward teacher empowerment and the implementation of new teaching methods, thereby rendering some of the concepts in this study problematic. Teachers' lack of confidence, fear of failure and authoritative restrictions also may limit findings.

It is important to note some limitations on my subjectivity as a researcher. Without the grounded knowledge that comes from years of direct teaching experience, my insight into the ramifications of the teacher empowerment literature is limited. Additionally, my interpretations come from the viewpoint of a Chinese individual who came from an educational system that is highly streamlined to focus on knowledge, often at the expense of direct practical experience. While I am interested in the notion of "teacher empowerment", it should be noted that I have little direct experience as an educator. Therefore, my limited experience constrains my interpretation of teachers' perceptions. Bearing all this in mind, I have tried to faithfully represent teachers' perceptions in this thesis and hope that I have done justice to their work with the students at Dalian No. 24.

### 1.6 Thesis Outline

This paper consists of the following six chapters:

Chapter 1, Introduction, explains the features and origins of teacher empowerment and the aims and requirements of China's current NCR. It also discusses how the two issues interconnect. Research questions, methodology of study and limitations are

reviewed. Existing problems related to teacher empowerment in China and North America are also explored.

Chapter 2, Literature Review, addresses existing literature relating to teacher empowerment. Basic issues surrounding the subject and different perspectives are examined. Through this review, the author explores the Chinese New National Curriculum Reform to further understand the concept of teacher empowerment within the context of current Chinese educational practices. The characteristics, sources and composition of teacher empowerment are also discussed in this chapter. Further, the review outlines the external requirements and internal appeals from teachers, schools and national reforms of teacher empowerment. External requirements are outlined in the form of laws and curriculum requirements. Internal appeals arise from the natural relationship between teacher and curriculum. This includes a teacher's power over school affairs, decision-making and professional abilities.

Chapter 3, Methodology, provides an overview of the research method used in this study. This research was conducted using a qualitative study approach. Face-to-face interviews are the main method of data collection. Limitations of the study, methods of analysis, and categorizations are outlined, as well as contextual information about Dalian No. 24. Data are codified and analyzed according to the research questions. Questionnaires based on the interview questions were issued randomly to enhance the data. Records of the interview were kept for further clarification of interview content, and

transcripts were made accordingly. After finishing the transcription process, member checking was carried out.

Chapter 4, Analysis, Results and Discussion, outlines the study's results. It analyzes teachers' present experiences of teacher empowerment in Dalian No. 24. It identifies attitudes and values held about curriculum reform, as well as highlights problematics surrounding reform in Dalian No. 24. Additional aspects to teacher empowerment such as environment, awareness, attitudes and ability are detailed. Important topics for future consideration are highlighted throughout. Leadership, cultural issues, and government constraints are also discussed, as well as other crucial elements involved in the implementation of reform.

Chapter 5, Conclusions, reviews the main findings of the research, offering conclusions and suggestions. The conclusions are based on the research conducted at Dalian No. 24 and address the research questions. The nature and conditions for teacher empowerment will be summarized in this chapter. Key questions for further research are summarized and critical elements to the reform process are outlined. Teachers' rights and issues affecting their implementation are examined, as well as key relationships involved in the reform process.

## 2 Literature Review

This chapter reviews existing research on teacher empowerment. Originating in the United States around 1980, teacher empowerment is a relatively new concept to China, and it has been integral to the development of teacher education since the enactment of the NCR. Researchers have explored much in terms of the theory's breadth and depth. This chapter will focus on the concept of teacher empowerment, its meanings, practice and effects from both American and Chinese perspectives. Moreover, the Chinese traditional culture, political system and centralized management structure have meant that the curriculum management system can never be exactly the same as the United States' Historical analysis and reasonable suggestions that address this situation are also provided after reviewing the most recent Chinese literature.

# 2.1 Theoretical and Practical Significance

Theoretical research on teacher empowerment focuses on improving teachers' professional autonomy and explores how teachers can transfer their roles from passive curriculum implementers to active curriculum participants. Theoretical research also studies how the successful enactment of teacher empowerment will have a positive impact on students' all-round development, in addition to reforming schools' organizational culture and management systems.

Practical research on teacher empowerment focuses on the application of theoretical

knowledge and ideas in the classroom setting. This research identifies problems in current educational practices and attempts to provide practical answers. The practical application of teacher empowerment research involves the redistribution of schools' power over the administration of the curriculum, transformation of schools' organizational policy and systems, and the implementation and evaluation of teaching practices within the teaching profession. In *Does teacher empowerment affect the classroom?*, Louis and Marks (1997) confirmed that teacher empowerment has an influence on students' academic performance. In Trouble In Paradise: teacher conflicts in shared decision making, Weiss et al. (1992) discusses the challenge of teacher empowerment during the education process, suggesting it may cause increased conflict due to teachers' participation in decision making processes. Klecker and Loadman's (1996) research was based on the hypothesis that teacher empowerment would increase teachers' job satisfaction. In Exploring the relationship between teacher empowerment and teacher job satisfaction, they identify key elements, including teachers' salaries, promotion opportunities, challenges, job autonomy, working conditions, cooperation with colleagues and communication with students as measurements of teachers' job satisfaction. This research demonstrates that teacher empowerment has the potential to increase job satisfaction.

The author found that practical research on teacher empowerment is mainly focused on teacher empowerment's background, connotations, constitutional dimensions, and influencing factors among others. Through an analysis of the literature, the author

concluded that teacher empowerment is demonstrated to increase job satisfaction, as well as student performance. Teachers and administrators should address problematics involving the redistribution of power, and that key elements as discussed above, are critical in affecting teacher empowerment.

# 2.2 Teacher Empowerment

Wang Lishan asserted that empowerment can overcome teachers' mediocrity, effectively preventing the strict hierarchy of the Chinese education system and inspiring the creativity of teachers (Wang, 2005). In *From empowerment system to improvement of individual capacity (2009)*, Hu suggests teacher empowerment awakens a teacher's autonomy and in turn would reform the top-down education system in China. Some researchers focused on the influence of teacher empowerment in the classroom, such as Wu's *Empowering, energizing and constructing self-autonomy classroom: the value orientation of classroom teaching reform.* Some are dedicated to exploring teachers' participation in curriculum reform, such as Cheng and Ma's *Empowerment: guarantee of teacher's classroom participation*.

In Lawson and Harrison's (1990) article titled *Individual action planning in initial* teacher training: empowerment or discipline?, the authors came to the conclusion that teacher empowerment needs to enhance the teacher's rights in three areas: self-efficacy, critical autonomy and community. Here, self-efficacy refers to individuals' abilities to

solve difficult problems; critical autonomy refers to the ability to think independently; and community refers to the ability to collaborate in a group (Lawson & Harrison, 1990).

In 1992, Paula Short and James Rhinehart conducted a three year study on teacher empowerment in the context of western culture (Short & Rinehart, 1992). They concluded that there are six dimensions to teacher empowerment, including decision-making, professional development, status, self-efficacy, autonomy and impact. They outlined each dimension as follows: Decision making is regarded as the crux of teacher empowerment. Short and Rhinehart said teachers should have more rights and responsibilities to participate in allocating school budgets, holding teacher elections, designing curriculum plans, etc. Professional development means schools provide opportunities for teachers to continue their professional studies in order to improve their skills both at work and outside of work. Status implies teachers should have the right to be respected as professional persons. Self-efficacy means that teachers demonstrate the ability to help their students learn and are able to make tailored learning programs in order to implement effective teaching and learning activities. Autonomy means that teachers have their own areas of expertise and have control over how they interpret the curriculum, and impact means teachers feel their efforts will have an impact on the entire school development (Short & Rinehart, 1992). Through working with these six dimensions, better attention can be given to the reform and evaluation of teacher empowerment.

Teacher empowerment assumes the premise and guarantee of school-based curriculum development (Cheng & Ma, 2008). This can be examined through three aspects: First, compared with the uniform national curriculum development model that China previously used, is that teacher empowerment acts as a new way to improve teachers' professional authority and capability. This professional authority and capability is not imposed on teachers. Instead, they refer to the skills teachers already had but were constrained to use. The second aspect can be considered from the perspective of legality and legitimacy of teacher empowerment. Advocating on behalf of a teacher's professional status emphasizes empowerment and amplifies the power of teacher groups, enabling them to become more involved in a school's operation and development. The third aspect emphasizes the collaboration between teachers and other educators. It ensures teachers, in collaboration with, for example university faculty, have greater opportunity to control their educational resources in order to develop and influence their professional abilities (Li, 2004). Teacher empowerment inspires teachers to become more active in their professional development and the development of the curriculum. China's top-down decision-making model has the potential for reform through empowering teachers to act more autonomously. Lawson and Harrison (1990) and Short and Rinehart's research (1992) outlines factors influencing the implementation of teacher empowerment including self-efficacy, professional development, and decision-making. The factors mentioned above and the demonstrated results of teacher empowerment research outline critical areas for consideration in implementing and assessing teacher empowerment reforms.

### 2.3 Development of Teacher Empowerment

According to the quantity and quality of research results on teacher empowerment, the researcher divided the development of teacher empowerment research into two periods: the embryotic period and the developing period.

### 2.3.1 The Embryotic Period (From Early 1980s to Early 1990s)

In 1986, Lightfoot published *On Goodness In School: Themes of empowerment*. It is the first systematic research on empowerment in the field of education. In the same year, Margaret Yonemura's (1986) *Reflection on teacher empowerment and teacher education* is the first research which uses teacher empowerment as the title of the article. In this period, there were the following two research features.

### 2.3.1.1 Lack of notable research achievement and in-depth study.

In this period, research results focusing on teacher empowerment is selective, approximately ten publications. The representative scholars are Lightfoot, Yonemura, Maeroff, Karant, Melenyzer and others. Maeroff (1989) thought

For a teacher, empowerment means—more than anything else—working in an environment in which the teacher acts as a professional and is treated as a professional... There are three guiding principles in this approach to

empowerment and they have to do with status, knowledge, and access to decision making. (p. 53)

There were also scholars whose discourses looked at teacher empowerment from the perspective of a school's management reforms. Karant (1989) investigated the Midwestern High School, Suburban High School and Inner-City High school, and made the conclusion that "expanding teachers' responsibilities in ways that give them significant influence is the key to develop better schools (p. 29)."

From this research, the data only reflect education reform, especially teacher education reform. They do not provide in-depth analysis on content or strategies for teacher empowerment. However, these studies have begun to consciously pay attention to teacher empowerment's impact on school education reform, promoting teacher professional development, increasing teacher responsibility, and improving students' scores. This lays some foundational work for subsequent teacher empowerment research.

# 2.3.1.2 Lack of systematic research and insufficient attention to teacher empowerment

In this period, the studies were generally carried out from the following perspective: Through observation and interviews on several schools' empowerment status (including teacher empowerment), Lightfoot (1986) thought "Empowerment refers to the opportunities a person has for autonomy, responsibility, choice, and authority (p. 9)."

However, Lightfoot's study is not focused specifically on a teacher's individual empowerment, but school empowerment as a whole. In 1989, Brandt interviewed Lieberman. During the interview, Lieberman stated: "Teacher empowerment means empowering teachers to participate in group decisions, to have real decision-making roles in the school community... (p. 24)." Doris discussed teacher empowerment from the perspective of the administrator. He thought administrators should adapt their management strategy, fully trust teachers, and let teachers participate in decision-making about school affairs (Hu, 2009).

In brief, research on teacher empowerment in this period is more disparate and lacks a systematic approach. The focus of this research points out the administration's role and its involvement with teachers in implementing teacher empowerment reforms. With the steady implementation of education reform, as an important method of improving teachers' professional status and promoting teacher professional development, teacher empowerment has gained increased attention. This led to the gradual development of teacher empowerment research.

### 2.3.2 The Developing Period (Early 1990s to Present)

After the 1990s, teacher empowerment has occupied a significant position in education reform. Additionally, empowering teachers has become an important strategy in promoting teachers' professional growth. The Consortium for Policy Research in

Education, which is funded by the US Ministry of Education, published a series of reports about teacher empowerment. *Teacher empowerment and professional knowledge* and *Building school capacity for effective teacher empowerment: Applications to elementary schools with at-risk students*, which were published in 1991, indicated that research on teacher empowerment had entered a new period. In this period, research on teacher empowerment had the following features.

#### 2.3.2.1. Abundant research accomplishments and diversity of research methods

After the 1990s, research achievements were increasingly prevalent and research methods were becoming more diversified. Not only educational scholars, but relevant government departments, professional academic associations, and university research institutions have also become involved in the research of teacher empowerment. (1) With US federal government funding and support, the Consortium for Policy Research in Education presented a series of teacher empowerment research reports. Among these reports, *Teacher empowerment and professional knowledge* and *building school capacity for effective teacher empowerment: Applications to elementary schools with at-risk students* were the representative ones. (2) Professional academic associations paid more attention to teacher empowerment. In 1992, 1993 and 1996, the American Educational Research Association presented *Teacher empowerment and school climate, job satisfaction* and *Empowerment among teacher leaders, reading recovery teachers, and regular classroom teachers* and *Exploring the relationship between teacher* 

empowerment and teacher job satisfaction respectively on their annual meeting. (3) Also involved were university research institutions: Pennsylvania State University Education Management Research Center published Dimensions of teacher empowerment in 1992; in Tennessee, Memphis State University Education Policy Research Center released Teacher empowerment in a professional development school collaborative: Pilot assessment in the same year.

As an increasing number of stakeholders participated in teacher empowerment research during this period, we see developments in research methodology as well as an increased awareness of teacher empowerment on several levels of academia and government.

#### 2.3.2.2. More systematic research contents

In this period, research on teacher empowerment no longer stayed in discussion about its concept and significance. They were more systematic, mainly as follows:

(1) Exploring the dimensions of teacher empowerment. Short (1992) divided teacher empowerment into six dimensions, including "Involvement in decision making, teacher impact, teacher status, autonomy, opportunities for professional development, and teacher self-efficacy (Short, 1992, p8)". Through literature review, Klecker and Loadman (1998) concluded that improvement of teacher empowerment required teachers' personal abilities, including responsibility,

leadership skill, curriculum designing, cooperation, decision-making abilities, influence, professional development, expertise, self-efficacy, self-esteem, status and guidance capacities.

- (2) Exploring basic knowledge of teacher empowerment. Through field research and literature study, Lichtenstein (1991) thought decentralization or enhancing teachers' power cannot guarantee teacher empowerment. Teachers' professional knowledge was the key of ensuring teacher empowerment. He divided professional knowledge related to teacher empowerment into knowledge of professional community, knowledge of education policy and knowledge of subject area. Meanwhile, this report also explored the value of professional knowledge to teacher empowerment.
- (3) Exploring internal reasons for teacher empowerment. Some scholars researched teacher empowerment from teachers' job satisfaction, self-efficacy and self-participation in decision-making and other internal factors. These scholars believed that the higher the teachers' job satisfaction, the more power they gained. It was significantly positively correlated (Klecker & Loadman, 1996).
- (4) Exploring the relationship between teacher empowerment and external environment. Research related to this point was more plentiful than the others.

  These studies mainly focused on the relationship between teacher empowerment

and the principal, the relationship between teacher empowerment and the school environment, and the relationship between teacher empowerment and school reform and so on. These studies proceeded from elements including system, schools, and administrators especially principals. Their target was to create favorable conditions for teacher empowerment from external elements.

During this period different dimensions of teacher empowerment are explored, including professional development, knowledge of curriculum, curriculum development as well as internal and external factors influencing teacher empowerment. This increased depth of study was vital in moving teacher empowerment research towards more practicable implementation strategies.

# 2.4 Influencing Factors on Teacher Empowerment

In *Teacher empowerment and professional knowledge*, Lichtenstein (1992) proposed the following to achieve the target ability of empowerment: establishing a higher admission standard for becoming a teacher, mobilizing the enthusiasm of teachers and promoting improvement of teachers' professional knowledge. If teachers' professional nature and autonomy are denied, their development as professionals is severely constrained.

One of the most systematic analyses in an Eastern context of teacher empowerment is by Wan, in his book titled *Teacher Empowerment: concepts, strategies, and implications*  for schools in Hong Kong. He discussed empowerment from three perspectives: teachers, administrators, and schools. From a teacher's perspective, Wan states that more attention should be paid to factors relevant to individuals, including psychological empowerment, motivation, professionalization and trust. From an administrator's perspective, visionary leadership and spirit should be considered. Finally, from a school's perspective, emphasis should be placed on school culture and organization (Wan, 2005).

Additional factors that will influence teacher empowerment include teachers' inquiry skills, challenging of cultural norms, interpersonal communication ability, collective strength and leadership (Wan, 2005). The additional refinement of standards of professionalism and consideration of such factors as teachers' psychological states shows a more nuanced approach to teacher empowerment research.

#### 2.4.1 Teachers' Job Satisfaction

In *Modeling Teacher Empowerment: The role of job satisfaction*, Zembylas and Papanastasiou (2005) researched the relationship between teachers' job satisfaction and teacher empowerment from dimensions including teachers' professional growth, decision-making, promotion, and status. Research shows that teachers' job satisfaction is strictly correlated with teachers' professional growth, status and other school work and life. It shows a positive correlation between teachers' job satisfaction, which means the more satisfied teachers are, the more power they gained.

Pearson and Moomaw's research involves influences of teachers' job satisfaction on teacher empowerment. In *The relationship between teacher autonomy and stress, work satisfaction, empowerment, and professionalism,* relationships between teachers' autonomy, stress, job satisfaction, teacher empowerment and teachers' professional growth are analyzed. The research shows that teacher empowerment has influences on teachers' job satisfaction, autonomy and professional development. According to the research, teachers' job satisfaction, autonomy and professional development are demonstrated as important considerations in implementing teacher empowerment strategies.

### 2.4.2 Decision-making

The positive outcomes of teacher empowerment strategies are slowly proving themselves. Research clearly shows that increasing the teacher's decision-making ability will increase the teacher's interest in teaching, reduce the alienation between teacher and students, and enhance the teacher's self-esteem (White, 1992). In *Teacher empowerment and the implementation of school-based reform*, Heck and Brandon (1995) found that the teacher's participation in decision-making improves teachers' sense of responsibility and contributes to better educational reforms at the school level. A more comprehensive summary of this aspect is given by Wan (Wan, 2005), whose research showed that when teachers had more control over decision-making, such as teaching method choices and school management, there are four positive effects:

- A more effective and reasonable strategy will be produced for the development of the school as a whole.
- 2. Teachers' professional ownership is enhanced.
- 3. Teachers' morale and enthusiasm for school organization are maintained. and
- 4. Different voices will be presented through democratic decision-making process and therefore obtain a higher degree of social recognition of the teaching profession.

Other scholars, such as Muijs and Harris (2003) found that getting teachers involved in decision-making not only establishes a better school culture, but also improves the relationship between a school's organizational structure and teaching activities.

For administrators, sharing the decision-making power is potentially a win-win situation (Rong, 2005). Administrators share power with teachers, while teachers make contributions to school operations and curriculum development. In this case, the question is not whether teachers should get involved, but how can they be involved and to what extent.

Additionally, according to George Beecham (1989), teachers' roles in curriculum decision-making processes are increasingly important. Beecham divided the people involved into four categories: professionals, teachers, professional staff and non-professional citizens. Students were later added as a fifth category. In these five

categories, teachers are the most important because they are working at the forefront of curriculum reform. They are not only the interpreters of education policies, but are also the intermediary of education content. Therefore, they have a decisive impact on curriculum reform and play the most important role in curriculum decision-making (Beecham, 1989).

Along with researching schools' decision-making processes, Victor Vroom and Phillip Yetton (1973) said it was important to combine teachers' decision-making power with their schools' curriculum reforms. Vroom and Yetton proposed a participatory decision-making model to decide the extent of teachers' involvement. Further, Vroom and Yetton determined that the importance of decisions and teachers' expertise should both be considered when deciding their involvement level. They also found that experts and administrators do not always have enough experience and expertise. Therefore, professional teachers should be considered to be involved. However, when the outcomes of some decisions are integral to teachers' lives, or when there is a conflict of interest, for example the promotion and hiring of teachers, they might not be in the best position to make these decisions. Therefore, an 'arms-length' decision should be made, typically by administrators. Vroom and Yetton's research not only reveals the necessity of teachers' involvement in decision-making, but also details the various situations and constraints that exist in implementing decision-making. Their work shows that teachers' involvement in decision-making is not as simple as it appears. It depends on the content, the teacher's professional ability and specific arrangement of school curricula.

Decision-making is an integral component in teacher empowerment. The research shows that integrating teachers into decision-making processes surrounding curriculum development, school culture, and administration has many positive effects, including better morale and an increased sense of professionalism. By working together with teachers, research has shown that administrators will often fare better and the school environment is improved.

### 2.4.3 Teachers' Roles in Curriculum Development

Teachers' roles in curriculum development determine the extent to which teachers should be empowered and the type of power that they should have. Depending on a teacher's role, different types of power can be acquired. Therefore, a question that follows is what roles are teachers playing in curriculum reform?

Teachers' participation in curriculum reform leads to teachers' involvement in curriculum development. Teachers' roles are turned from being bystanders to participants in curriculum. Kathryn Whitaker and Monte Moses (1990) thought teacher empowerment meant giving more rights to teachers, allowing them to make decisions about their work and professional development. Glenn (1990) believed that teachers should take more responsibility in decision-making related to teaching philosophy, methodology, content and scheduling arrangements. Romanish (1992) asserted that teacher empowerment

means teachers should have professional autonomy and the opportunity to use their knowledge. Lawrence Stenhouse proposed the famous notion of "teacher as researcher." He once said, "It is teachers who, in the end, will change the world of the school by understanding it" (Stenhouse, 1975, p208). From his perspective, the knowledge created by teachers in the curriculum process is essential. Therefore, it allows the intervention of personal judgments. The model he proposed reflected the in-depth integration of teachers and curriculum, which benefited teachers' professional development. Connelly and Ben-Peretz (1980) reflected on the failure of post-structuralist curriculum reform and put forward their dissatisfaction in relying on experts instead of teachers during the curriculum reform process. They thought teachers should have direct access to teaching materials and research in schools. For teachers, this research is a significant activity of their professional development. Introduction of new programs, syllabi, textbooks and research results can provide opportunities for teachers' professional development by letting them adapt to new disciplines and dispositions in the new curriculum. More importantly, teachers were willing to be part of this research.

Michael Fullan (2011) attaches great importance to teachers' roles in curriculum reform. In his book *Change leader: Learning to do what matters most*, he points out that everyone can be the impetus of change, not just experts. He also believes that absolute centralization or decentralization cannot achieve the success of curriculum reform. Top-down and bottom-up strategies should be combined. These scholars thought that

teachers' participation in curriculum creation could accelerate teachers' awareness of teacher empowerment.

William A. Reid (1979), a British scholar, described teachers' roles in terms of systematology. According to Reid, teachers are the executors of curricula and the intermediaries for transferring curriculum plans into effect. In such a system, teachers are responsible for the design and interpretation of curriculum. From a radical perspective, teachers are the embodiment of hegemony and the reproducers of social relationships. From the existential perspective, teachers are the facilitators of individual growth. Somewhere between these two extremes, qualified teachers can figure out the imperfection of regular curricula and make adjustments to arouse students' interests. During curriculum implementation, teachers have unique power to determine whether the conversion of a curriculum system to actual practice is successful or not. This means teachers are the mediators of imagination and power between formal curriculum and students' needs, desire and tendencies in relation to the actualized curriculum in the classroom (Reid, 1979).

In *The reflective roles of classroom teachers*, McIntyre and O'Hair (1996) provide a comprehensive overview of teachers' roles as curriculum executors. They believe that teachers are playing the roles of organizers, communicators, inspirers, managers, innovators and consultants during teaching periods all of which contribute to their empowerment. These roles require teachers to have both political and legal roles.

Teachers have to regard the school as a complex system where they need to have both a spirit of reflection and one of criticism. To become effective leaders they need to take increasingly more responsibility during the process of managing the curriculum.

Through the study of different roles of the teacher in teacher empowerment strategies, data have indicated that teachers should take more responsibility in the creation of curricula, moving from passive implementers to active executors of the curriculum. These changes suggested above demonstrate effective approaches to improve teacher empowerment.

### 2.4.4 Teachers' Professional Development

The outcomes of teacher empowerment are fundamentally linked to teachers' professional development. While school-based curriculum empowers teachers, it also provides an unprecedented opportunity for teachers' professional development.

In *Teacher empowerment and professional knowledge*, Lichtenstein et al (1992) pointed out that the most effective way of developing teachers' professional knowledge is teachers' self-empowerment. Teachers' professional development can promote teacher empowerment because it allows teachers to have the ability to be able to actively participate, share, control and influence a variety of school events. Therefore, teachers should find their own professional development activities and continue to enrich their professional knowledge and skills in order to have the ability to deal with school affairs

and to be empowered. In *Empowering teachers through professional development*, Murray (2010) discussed the impact of teacher professional development on teacher empowerment. She emphasized the most effective way of teacher professional development is teachers' self-empowerment. Hicks and DeWalt (2006) expounded in *Teacher empowerment in the decision making process* that teacher empowerment should be regarded as part of school management. It is indispensable during the process of decision-making. Teachers should be more involved in making decisions in order to better accomplish their duties.

Gang Ding (2011) said that a teacher's professional development is the main reason for school-based curriculum development. A teacher's professional development relies on career training, partnership, resource support, students' participation and a collaborative school culture. These five aspects constitute and promote a dynamic development model for teachers' professional development. For example, in *Teacher Empowerment: The discourse, meanings and social actions of the teacher*, through observing forty teachers who felt empowered, Melenyzer (1990) found that the so-called "sense of empowerment" translated into teachers having a sense of autonomy, confidence and the ability to decide their own professional performance and opportunities. Through these practices, teachers discover real empowerment and therefore the level of teachers' professional development is raised accordingly.

In The Empowerment of Teachers: Overcoming the crisis of confidence, Maeroff

(1998) said that these two concepts of "teacher empowerment" and "teacher professionalization" emphasize greater respect for teachers' professional development by improving teachers' working conditions. By improving teachers' work satisfaction, the pressure from work will be lowered and professional development will be strengthened. Li (2008) pointed out in *Empowerment and professional growth of primary and secondary school teachers* that teacher empowerment enhances teachers' career satisfaction, contributes to the formation of professional academic organizations and creates a harmonious culture of education. As such, teachers' empowerment is an important element in their active engagement in curriculum at the school.

By improving their professional ability, seeking individualized professional development activities and developing better decision-making strategies, teacher empowerment can be better realized. As teachers develop professionally, research shows that teachers become more empowered.

# 2.4.5 School and Organizational Culture

Lightfoot (1986) pointed out that teachers' development comes from parents and organizations respectfully, both of which impact teacher empowerment. In *Why "professionalizing" teaching is not enough?*, Firestone (1993) discussed teachers' importance in schools. He suggests that teachers' participation in school decision-making, attending training courses, gaining respect, raising treatment and improving working

conditions will have positive influences on teacher empowerment. He pointed out that creating a good environment will be helpful for constructing teachers' self-autonomy, in order to influence teacher empowerment. Traditional school structures with a rigid hierarchy will hinder the development of teachers' self-autonomy. Bogler and Somech (2005) discussed the relationships amongst teacher empowerment, organizational promise and organizational citizenship behavior. In Correlations between perceived teacher empowerment and perceived sense of teacher self-efficiency, Hemric and Shellman (2010) confirmed from their study that providing teachers with good working conditions and creating reliant, professionalized and cooperative environments are necessary to promote teachers' self-efficacy. In Teacher empowerment and collaboration enhances student engagement in data-driven environments, Pollak (2009) indicated that schools could promote teacher empowerment by cooperation, which will also improve students' performance. Chinese scholar Cao and Lu (2006) in Teacher empowerment: Connotation, significance and strategies suggested that elementary, high school and universities should cooperate to promote teachers' professional development and teacher empowerment. Li and Chang (2006) discussed teacher empowerment's background, content, method and constructing of the environment in *Teacher empowerment in America*, which is valuable for supporting and enabling greater teacher autonomy. The relationship between a school's organizational culture and teacher empowerment cannot be ignored. Research has shown that a supportive school environment more effectively engages teacher empowerment strategies and increases their self-efficacy.

### 2.4.6 School Curriculum Leadership and Teacher Empowerment

Teacher empowerment requires interactive efforts between curriculum leaders and teachers. Concerns about curriculum leaders' and teachers' professional involvement, decision-making and development are explored in this section. Objective elements that may influence teachers and leaders are also considered.

According to Lambert (2005), curriculum leadership should have the following guidelines: First, it should be a group rather than an individual (e.g., principal) endeavor. She said that everyone in this group could have the potential and power to be a leader. Second, all members in this group should learn to work together to construct knowledge. Third, redistribution of power and authority can be assured and responsibilities of learning, objectives and actions can be shared (Xu, 2004). Therefore, in this sense, curriculum leadership is no longer just the domain of principals and administrators. Teachers also have the opportunity to participate in leading curriculum development (Li & Duan, 2004), thereby increasing their empowerment.

School curriculum leadership also requires the participation of teachers. Without teacher leadership both at the school and in the classroom, school reforms and improvements cannot be completed. It has been a long time since teachers took part in and occupied certain key positions in curriculum leadership in China. To some extent, schools need teachers to lead the curriculum reform. Empowered teachers are necessary

for collaborative models in curriculum management, and among these teachers, outstanding ones need to be encouraged to become leaders within the Chinese context (Huang & Zhu, 2005).

Through research and observation of school teaching groups, Chinese scholars discovered a correlation between a school's curriculum leadership and teachers' professional development. Whenever curriculum leadership increases, the influence of teachers' professional development increases (Lin & He, 2005). Therefore, curriculum leadership significantly influences teachers' professional development. School leaders must integrate the process of curriculum development with teachers' professional development in order to promote and support their curriculum leadership potential.

# 2.4.7 Support from School Leaders

It is not just enough for teachers to have the power to participate in curriculum leadership. Support of school leaders is also needed, including the external support of resources and environmental factors, and internal support of the teacher's psychological development and security. Such environmental supports include an open and supportive school atmosphere, opportunities for teachers to have collective engagement, building of moral dispositions among teachers, group communication and cooperation. Concerns about teachers' psychological conditions include teachers' pressure, emotions and concerns (Yu, 2006). There are at least five resources necessary to support teachers: an

orderly environment, the support of administration, adequate material conditions, adequate teaching resources and a reasonable workload (Yu, 2006). There are also scholars who pointed out that in order to make sure teachers get involved in curriculum leadership, power should be given to them so that they can diversify their roles in school settings (Xu, 2004).

In *Principals' Efforts to Empower Teachers: Effects on teacher motivation and job satisfaction and stress*, Davis and Wilson (2000) researched the principal's influences on teacher empowerment. The influences are mainly on teachers' job motivation, job satisfaction and working pressure. They emphasized that the principal should build a shared responsibility and open atmosphere in order to create a positive working relationship. In Ren's (2010) book *Teachers professional development and principal's role*, he analyzed the principal's role and efforts on teachers' professional leadership development, teachers' professional development support, and school's cultural construction in terms of the working and learning atmosphere.

Environmental support should come from school leaders. Provisions for an open atmosphere, adequate materials and a reasonable workload should be kept in mind in empowering teachers. The relationship between school leaders and teachers' needs must be addressed to adequately ensure teachers grow and are empowered professionally.

### 2.5 Curriculum Development and Teacher Empowerment

Scholars argue curriculum development should no longer be the privilege of government appointed curriculum experts. In terms of the NCR, teachers are meant to become one of the main forces of curriculum development. In terms of school-based curriculum development, it is usually decided by principals and teachers, and involves parents and students (Cui, 2001). Within the content of school-based curriculum development as articulated in the NCR, course selection, curriculum adaptation, integration and development are all carried out by teachers as the driving force behind reform in this process, where teachers are not only executors but also researchers (Fu, 2001).

However, the relationship between teacher empowerment and curriculum development was not fully realized until the educational reform failure in the United States in the 1960's. Below, various experts and their research on curriculum development are reviewed.

In scholar Ralph W. Tyler's classic curriculum model, he highlights the importance of experts in the process of curriculum design. Textbooks are normally prepared by experts, which reflect experts' attitudes towards the subject. Similarly, schools programs are also meant to be prepared by experts and reflect experts' points of view as to what education objectives should be (Tyler, 1969). According to the training methods and

content, Tyler said that if these experts were familiar with the areas of their own subjects they should be able to point out what contribution these subjects could make to the public good (Tyler, 1969). However, Schwab asserted a different attitude on expert-lead curriculum. He had a profound reflection on the failure of the structure of the disciplines reform in the United States in the 1960s, which bears much similarity to the current problems faced in Chinese educational reform. Schwab thought this reform was completely designed by the experts in each subject without reflecting the thoughts of teachers. Therefore, he criticized the traditional curriculum development model, represented as the "Tyler Principle." As a result, Schwab proposed his "practical curriculum" concept. He defined the disciplines, learners, environment and teachers as the four elements of the curriculum and highlighted the role of teachers in the curriculum. Schwab thought one of the primary causes of the curriculum reform's failure was the fact that the new curriculum, which was designed by experts, did not consider the understanding and acceptance of teachers. Thus, he believed that there should be a team to develop the curriculum collaboratively. This team should include curriculum experts, scholars, principals, teachers, students, parents and community representatives. Schwab's practice and theories about the teacher's responsibility for curriculum development places teachers in a significant position in the curriculum development process (Schwab, 1970). The concept of teacher empowerment was highlighted to give teachers more power, which is also what the Chinese NCR is currently attempting.

The curriculum implementation process is the 'show time' for teachers to demonstrate their power as curriculum practitioners. Snyder (1992), in a characterization of curriculum reform over the years, categorized the involvement of teachers in curriculum implementation into three kinds: loyal orientation, adaption orientation and creation orientation. Loyal orientation pursues a modernist thought process, which takes curriculum as a determined program. In this approach, curriculum implementation is adherence to an already existing plan, and teachers have no right to modify it. The other two confirm the rationality of teachers' adjusting curriculum plans during curriculum implementation. The 1960s' curriculum reform in the United States took the loyal orientation route, which is similar to what is currently happening in China. This form of curriculum implementation made teachers the consumers of curriculum. They had no rights to challenge the curriculum programs. Therefore, the failure of that curriculum reform was likely. From developing an understanding of the modern curriculum research paradigm, curriculum implementation is increasingly being considered as the process of constructing knowledge between teachers and students. Teachers' interpretation, adjustment and creation of curriculum demand more attention in this regard.

In reference to a curriculum's mode of existence, Elliot Eisner thought curriculum could be divided into three categories: explicit curriculum, implicit curriculum and null curriculum (Eisner & Vallance, 1974). Implicit curriculum refers to the practices and procedures that are not standardized and need to be guided. The null curriculum refers to

to Eisner, implicit and null curriculums must be selectively incorporated into curriculum implementation by teachers. Eisner said that if teachers are not actively engaged in the construction and creation of curriculum content, students have to focus on a pre-packaged curriculum, which can constrain the development of students because insufficient attention is given to the implicit and null curricula.

Moving from consumers of curricula to developers of curricula is a vital change involved in empowering teachers. Research suggests that collaborative curriculum development improves teachers' sense of empowerment and improves their professionalism. By actively participating in curriculum development, teachers are better able to meet the needs of the student, as they are better able to implement implicit and null curricula. Teacher empowerment, it is suggested, must include teachers' active participation in curriculum development.

# 2.6 Further Issues of Research on Teacher Empowerment

The foregoing review discussed the opinions of various North American and Chinese scholars with respect to teacher empowerment. However, some insufficiencies in terms of research outcomes should also be noted.

### 2.6.1 Theoretical Research More Than Empirical Research

Since the mid-20th century, scholars in China have been quite concerned about the curriculum reform and teacher empowerment. In-depth research covering teachers' participation in curriculum reform, teachers' contribution to school-based development, teachers' participation in school leadership, and teachers' power in curriculum practices have been carried out. A number of related theories have been proposed accordingly. However, compared to the plentiful research of conceptual areas, practical research is sadly lacking in the context of Chinese educational reform. Due to the differences in concepts of culture and education systems, most North America scholars base their research on practice settings. However, their reference value and usefulness are limited in light of the variables affecting the current Chinese education system, for example the Chinese traditional education system and culture, etc.

#### 2.6.2 Macro Research More Than Micro Research

Most research on teacher empowerment in China focuses on the relationship between teacher empowerment values and significance, as well as other curriculum issues. However, issues rarely mentioned are teacher empowerment during practice, evaluation, and curriculum design. Due to this lack of research, teachers might understand the concept of teacher empowerment at a theoretical level, but they do not know how to use it or employ it in practice (Liu, 2006).

### 2.7 Summary

Through the literature review, I examined the history and context of teacher empowerment, especially in the context of Chinese current National Curriculum Reform. The requirements of the NCR and complications from Chinese traditional practices provided a unique context for researching teacher empowerment. In light of China's top-down structure for the education system and complications from the traditional teaching-learning relationship, the NCR requires teachers to take actions to have professional autonomy and find new ways to improve teachers' professional authority and capability. I also researched how the concept and exercise of teacher empowerment developed in both the US and China. Other than the above issues, influences upon teacher empowerment are also examined. I also looked into how teacher empowerment is reflected in its actual implementation, hoping to connect with the research I am going to carry on in Dalian No. 24.

# 3 Methodology

### 3.1 Introduction

This qualitative study followed an inductive strategy, due to its continuous and simultaneous collection and processing of data (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). This case study was conducted in Dalian No. 24 Senior High School. Data about teacher empowerment was collected from several teachers and administrators within this school. This information was then analyzed in order to provide a qualitative basis for understanding teacher empowerment in Dalian No. 24. On that basis, a comprehensive and systematic analysis of the practice of teacher empowerment based on teacher interviews and surveys was undertaken. At this point, it is important to note the limitations of the data in its applicability, due to sample size. While some knowledge may be extrapolated and applied to similar schools or situations, it is hoped that the questions raised in this study contribute to the practical implications and future research on teacher empowerment in a Chinese context.

#### 3.2 Data and Methods

#### 3.2.1 The Interviews

The face-to-face interview is the main data collection method. After composing the original draft of interview questions, a pilot interview was conducted to examine the

feasibility and appropriateness of the questions. Necessary adjustments to the interview questions and methods of conversation were made after the pilot interview. Interview transcripts were saved in a digital file for review. Member checking was performed after transcription to allow respondents to clarify answers provided during the interviews.

The researcher interviewed twelve staff members individually for no more than 45 minutes. Respondents were presented with the possibility of one additional 20-minute follow-up interview only if any information needed to be clarified. Data collection procedures were approved by UBC's Ethical Review Board and advanced consent to conduct this research was obtained from each respondent. Respondents had the choice to end the interview at any time. However, all the respondents completed full interviews.

Data collection spanned a length of 20 days and took place within the buildings and areas of the Dalian No. 24 campus. During this time, data was collected, coded, conceptually organized and an initial analysis was conducted. The interviews were held during teachers' breaks, before the teacher's class, after class, and after the teacher's work. At the researcher's request, the interviews were conducted in the teachers' own office partition when only few teachers were in the office. Confidentiality was ensured and a safe interview environment was created. All the interviews were audio recorded and transcribed, and a copy of the interview schedule is in Appendix A. An excerpt of an interview transcript is contained in Appendix B.

### 3.2.2 The Follow-up Questionnaire Survey

During the process of data analysis, the author hoped to add an additional frame of reference to teacher empowerment conditions within Dalian No. 24. Therefore, a follow-up survey based on the interview questions was distributed randomly to additional fifty teachers from different teaching groups, grades and backgrounds. This survey was anonymous with only information on grades and teaching groups provided. There were fifty questionnaires distributed, and thirty-two completed responses were collected. Questionnaires with incomplete responses or single words were excluded from the analysis.

## 3.3 The Case Study

With the desire to derive an in-depth understanding of teacher empowerment, this case was conducted within the context of Dalian No. 24 with 44 teacher respondents including 10 teachers and 2 administrators from the interview and 32 teachers from the survey. Research questions were designed within the context of Dalian No. 24. It used a nonprobability sampling method for the interview with a random sampling process for the survey. During the data collection, open-ended interviews were the main method, while the survey and literature reviewing were used as a backdrop to the case study. In the analyzing process, the author arranged the case study around specific themes and issues to get the understanding of each respondent's experiences in this school.

#### 3.4 Context

This case study was conducted at Dalian No. 24 located in Dalian, China. Dalian No. 24's principal and teachers are knowledgeable and supportive of current NCR and the school has begun to acknowledge these reforms. Also, Dalian No. 24 was chosen due to a friendly preexisting relationship between the lead researcher and the principal who enabled access to a suitable school context in China. The researcher is a graduate from Dalian No. 24. Additionally, Dalian No. 24 only admits the top 15 percent of students who apply. In that case, teachers recruited by this school are well trained and undergo high expectations from the school and the public. The students also have high understanding capability that can reflect the results of the reform quickly. Therefore, this made the school an ideal location to explore teacher empowerment as it was conceived in relation to the NCR in China.

Dalian No. 24 was established in 1949 and is located in the downtown area of Dalian, China. There are 56 senior high schools and 60,893 students in the Dalian area. Dalian No. 24 is seen as a leader among them. It was established as the Key senior high school of Liaoning Province in 1962 and rated as the Beacon senior high school in Liaoning Province in 2004. Students are required to take an entrance examination held by the Dalian Education Bureau to gain admission to Dalian's senior middle school. Students are admitted to their senior high school depending on their scores. The school has three grades, 10, 11 and 12. There are 34 classes, 133 teachers and 1,620 students. The school

arranges students into different levels in terms of academic ability based on periodic examinations. To provide a physical sense of the school, three photographs are provided below (Figure 3.1, Figure 3.2 and Figure 3.3)

Figure 1 Aerial view of Dalian No. 24 Senior High School



Figure 2 An Office Building of Dalian No. 24 Senior High School



Figure 3 Classroom Setting in Dalian No. 24 Senior High School



## 3.5 Research Participants

## 3.5.1 Interview Participants

The interview participants consist of ten teachers and two administrators from Dalian No. 24 Senior High School. The teachers were chosen to represent different genders, teaching experiences, and teaching grades. (see Table 1.1). Their teaching experience ranges from half a year to more than 20 years. The researcher grouped the teachers into four categories according to their years of seniority, PI (no more than 3 years), PII (4-6 years), PIII (7-9 years), and PIV (10 or more years). The two administrators are the principal and the dean of the teaching affairs office, and both are male.

The sampling process was dependent upon the accessibility, resources and layout of Dalian No. 24's campus. The researcher talked with the administrator who is in charge of teaching activities and was introduced to twenty teachers with different teaching grades and years' experience. Subsequently, the researcher chose from these teachers to make sure the twelve participants' backgrounds varied from each other and as well represented different career periods.

The following table presents the interviewees categorized by gender, grade, years teaching experience, and position:

Table 1 Interviewees' Information

Interviewee	Gender	Grade	Teaching experience	Position
Zhang	M	12	10	Teacher
Sun	F	12	23	Teacher
Wang	M	12	7	Teacher
Zhou	F	11	7	Teacher
Zhao	F	11	4	Teacher
Li	M	11	20	Teacher
Zheng	M	11	5	Teacher
Chen	F	10	2	Teacher
Liu	F	10	1	Teacher
Wu	F	10	0.5	Teacher
Huang	M	NA	NA	Principal
Tian	M	NA	NA	Dean in charge of
				teaching affairs

### 3.5.2 Survey Participants

Survey participants consist of thirty-two teachers from different teaching groups, grades and backgrounds. The survey was randomly distributed to 50 teachers chosen from the 121 remaining teachers (i.e. the sample did not include the original 12 interview participants) in Dalian No. 24. There were thirty-two completed questionnaires collected. Due to the anonymity asked of these participants, only their teaching groups and grades were recorded. These participants are six teachers from the Grade ten Chinese teaching and researching group (TRG), two teachers from the Grade ten History TRG, two teachers from the Grade ten Physical TRG, four teachers from the Grade eleven Mathematics TRG, five teachers from the Grade eleven English TRG, one teacher from the Grade eleven Biology TRG, five teachers from the Grade twelve Chinese TRG, four teachers from the Grade twelve Mathematics TRG and three teachers from the Grade twelve Physics TRG. Collected questionnaires with single words or perfunctory answers were disregarded.

#### 3.6 The Pilot Interview

The Chinese NCR was launched in 2001. However, few publications in English are related to this area. After reviewing literature in both English and Chinese contexts, a draft of interview questions was constructed. In December of 2012, a pilot study was conducted at UBC in which a Chinese mathematics teacher with 6 years teaching

experience in a Chinese senior high school was interviewed.

The pilot study was driven by two questions: "What do teachers think about the current national curriculum reform?" and "Are teachers empowered or not after the implementation of curriculum reform?" It examined general questions such as teachers' understanding of the reform and students' change of performance during the reform. Others were, "To what extent are teachers empowered?", "How are school leaders implementing teacher empowerment and reform?", and "What are teachers' responses to actions of the administration?" After analyzing the records, more detailed questions were added to the interview outline and adjustments to other questions were made accordingly. The final interview schedule used in the research can be found in Appendix A.

#### 3.7 Data Collection

Prior to individual interviews, each teacher was provided with a list of the interview questions. Data were collected by digitally recording interviews, with additional notes transcribed by hand. Interview outline was developed around the research questions before the interview. The order and the way the questions were asked was based upon how the information emerged as well as contextual factors during the interviews. Generally, the interviews began with a few questions eliciting general information. Then open-ended questions on teacher empowerment and the new NCR followed. The interview questions elicited varied responses. Some teachers discussed aspects of teacher

empowerment for ten minutes, while some teachers issued single word responses to questions that they didn't want to talk about or were not interested in.

All interviews were recorded, transcribed verbatim and saved in a coded digital file for detailed analysis. Only the researcher and the research supervisor have access to the original records. The file will be deleted in five years after the research is finished. Member checking followed after the transcription was completed in order to verify or clarify their responses to the questions. Two follow-up interviews were conducted with two separate teachers when the researcher needed more information from the interviewees.

Fifty questionnaires based on the interview questions were also distributed to teachers from different backgrounds within this school to provide the author with more information about teacher empowerment in this school. All of the questionnaires were returned but eighteen of them were either incomplete or had only very perfunctory responses. The data analysis is based on the 12 interviewees and 32 questionnaires.

## 3.8 Data Analysis

Data was organized into each of the four corresponding research questions within the context of Dalian No. 24.

1. What is teacher empowerment, especially in the context of Chinese current National Curriculum Reform?

- 2. What are teachers' experiences and attitudes towards teacher empowerment and Chinese current National Curriculum Reform?
- 3. What are the factors that influence teacher empowerment in the context of Chinese current National Curriculum Reform?
- 4. Is there a conflict between efforts to introduce teacher empowerment and the current education system? If so, what is the nature and substance of this conflict from the Chinese teachers' perspective?

Interview data was then analyzed according to the grouping that follows: Teachers were categorized into group A, with three sub-groups (1, 2, and 3) according to their grades. The administrators were categorized into group B. Their responses were compared and analyzed to show how people in different roles view the same issues (Miles & Huberman, 1994).

Lincoln and Guba's constant comparative method was used to move raw data into categorized results with specific themes that relate to the research questions. The results of the analysis are theoretically grounded and guided by chapter two's literature review (Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

An analysis of teacher experience and individual understanding of curriculum reform and teacher empowerment was then conducted. Data was also analyzed within the context of Huberman's teacher's career cycle (Huberman, 1989). Ten interview teacher

respondents were categorized into four groups based on Huberman's career cycles theory.

Their claims were then compared and analyzed. The categorized analysis aimed to compare teachers in different teaching periods.

The survey respondents' (i.e. the 32 teachers) questionnaires were used as background information during the analyzing process. During the data analysis, the author read through all the 32 completed questionnaires and categorized them into two groups—teachers with positive attitudes and those with negative attitudes toward teacher empowerment and the NCR. The data was then be used as supporting evidence during the analysis of the interview to provide a stronger argument. It was also analyzed and compared within the groups, in order to find out reason for the different attitudes. The results are presented in Chapter Four.

# 4 Findings

### 4.1 Introduction

This study aimed to evaluate teachers' and administrators' current views towards teacher empowerment within the context of the China's current National Curriculum Reform (NCR). Data collected during this study identified some behavioral attitudes teachers held toward teacher empowerment, while addressing the need for educational outreach programs aimed to inform teachers about reform issues. Two additional important purposes of the study were to build on the existing, but limited, research in this area and to provide avenues for future inquiry.

Results from this study highlight benefits of teacher empowerment, but also expose problems that constrain the reforms. This study assessed important aspects of teacher empowerment, including increased performance and productivity, improved teacher morale, increased knowledge of subject matter and pedagogy, and ultimately, higher student motivation and achievement from teachers and administrators. The author also found that teachers' acceptance and attitudes towards teacher empowerment and NCR were largely influenced by the school's policies and attitudes towards these issues. In short, data were analyzed in an effort to provide practical answers to the issues that exist within Dalian No. 24, and similar schools, as well as to outline important questions for further study.

To this effect, data were organized into groups that corresponded to the research questions outlined in chapter one. In an effort to determine the degree to which teachers are involved in the curriculum creation process, ten teachers and two administrators from Dalian No. 24 were interviewed. Although they hold administrative positions, both administrators still regard themselves as teachers and therefore in this study their responses will be considered in that context. Another thirty-two teachers with different backgrounds were also surveyed to provide a broader vision of the environment of teacher empowerment in this school.

The data presented in this chapter include transcripts of the interviews with each of the ten teachers and two administrators and questionnaires information from thirty-two teachers. Two separate follow-up interviews with two teachers were conducted for clarification purposes. School and classroom settings were photographed and field notes were taken during the interviews. Findings are examined in detail throughout this chapter. Supplementary data from the survey was used as reference information to provide more reliability of the analysis and conclusion.

# **4.2 Data Analysis**

Results were analyzed within the context of the Chinese NCR. Since the NCR requires the decentralization of decision-making power from the school to teachers (Ministry of Education, 2001), it was necessary to raise the question of whether teachers

felt empowered enough to explore new teaching resources, design personal curriculum plans, and shift their teaching focus from traditional exam-oriented knowledge to critical thinking, problem solving and creativity in the classroom (Ministry of Education, 2001). By examining each teacher's use of their curriculum interpretation power, this study was able to gauge each teacher's willingness and awareness of their ability to use this power or not. It is important to note that just because the NCR requires teachers to have the power to interpret the curriculum does not mean teachers exercise this power. To what degree they exercise it depends, in part, on each teacher's professional judgment of what to teach and how to teach. Other factors, such as the administrator's willingness to share power, are also significant.

Furthermore, the concept of teachers' professional judgment emerged from the analysis and provided an additional perspective to review teacher empowerment. Once recognized as an analytical concept, teachers' professional judgment was erected as a fundamental category in which to review the data from this study. Teachers use their professional judgment relevant to their roles and responsibilities.

This study determined that one way to assess the level of teacher empowerment in Dalian No. 24 was to evaluate each interview respondent's professional judgment. This is because professional judgment highlights the way individual teachers choose to become involved in their school's educational process and interpretation of curriculum, their involvement being reflective of their empowerment. Therefore, there is an intrinsic link

between professional judgment and teacher empowerment.

In order to evaluate professional judgment, interview data were sorted into two categories: school-affairs decision-making power (SA) and their ability to interpret the curriculum, or curriculum power (CP). School-affairs decision-making power is defined as the active participation of teachers in the organization of school activities, time-table arrangements and students' daily affairs. Curriculum power is the active participation of teachers in the creation, implementation and evaluation of student curricula.

The interviews show that among the twelve respondents, the administrators valued school-affairs decision-making power, while the ten teachers were more concerned with curriculum power. This information suggests that administrators feel empowered when they take control of the school as a whole, while teachers feel empowered when they take control of their own curricula. It is important to note that this study originally began with twelve respondents. And while the data set is limited in its applicability beyond Dalian No. 24, it raises important issues that deserve further study.

The interviews revealed how these administrators and teachers view teacher empowerment differently. Both administrators responded that they felt teacher empowerment would be greater with teachers who actively seek promotion and that they would become more involved in school affairs decision-making. They felt teachers should give more value to school-affairs decision-making in order to become leaders of

the district, school and classroom. The teacher responses contradicted the administration's by saying they felt empowered and would become leaders when they are involved in the creation, implementation and evaluation of curricula.

Additionally, the researcher found that teachers' curriculum creation power is directly related to their power to implement the curriculum. These results indicate a positive correlation between respondents' effectiveness with a curriculum they designed and their daily teaching practice. This correlation directly impacts their implementation of curriculum reforms. Among respondents, the more experience a teacher had, the more effective their curriculum implementation was, making their curriculum implementation power greater. Experience and ability to implement curriculum reform were seen to be positively correlated.

## 4.2.1 Teacher Empowerment through School-affairs Decision-making

Teachers' school-affairs decision-making power (SA) includes selecting textbooks, creating and implementing school activities, arranging school facilities and assisting with students' daily affairs. Involving teachers in SA increases confidence and heightens their sense of belonging to the school (Hicks & DeWalt, 2006). In this way, teachers believe that their ideas, feelings and suggestions are valuable to the development of the school. As a result, they actively participate in the SA process and become motivated to pursue professional development. Many respondents felt that suggestions given by teachers

about how to interpret the curriculum are much easier to accept than those from administrators, which ultimately lead to improved teachers' curriculum decision-making power, self-efficacy and curriculum evaluation power.

Respondents revealed that in Dalian No. 24 the current condition of accepting teacher involvement in the school-affair decision-making process is very optimistic. They indicated that school leaders are open to accept teachers' ideas when they are good for the development of the school and students in the eyes of the administrators.

Dean Tian explains that teachers' input is valued within school-affairs decision-making. According to Tian, "Nowadays, although the pressure of teachers is great in all aspects, teachers are willing to make comments on the school's arrangement. After suggestions are proposed, administrators have to listen as they rely on teachers to teach."

Another respondent, teacher Zhou, said, "Because teaching contents of each grade are closely linked, principals pay a lot of attention to teachers' suggestions. For example, if a textbook is criticized by a lot of teachers, the principal will consider changing the textbook."

This study also found that teachers who are pursuing promotions into administrative positions were more enthusiastic about participating in school-affairs decision-making than teachers who were not interested in these promotional positions.

This is also evidenced in Zhang's response:

The more my suggestions are taken by school leaders, the more willing I am to invest myself in the school. After teaching for ten years, remaining in this position cannot fulfill all of my career pursuits. I'm now moving onto other things, such as taking some responsibilities for curriculum planning and evaluation. The more I work on this, the more opportunities I get. I cannot remain solely a teacher for my whole career, and this is a chance for me to get ahead.

However, teachers' school-affairs decision-making power is not always used well by all teachers even though the opportunity exists. According to Dean Tian, some teachers are not interested in having this power.

In our school, we have a general meeting for teachers periodically. Normally it is held weekly within the teaching group and monthly within the school. Although most teachers cherish the opportunity to express their ideas towards the development of the school, some teachers just don't care. They don't even show up to the meeting. This delays some of our work. Another situation is some teachers' suggestions are creative enough, but they are not realistic to put into action. We have to find ways to reject these suggestions while not hurting their feelings at the same time.

Chen, a teacher respondent, said that:

I don't have the extra attention to make contributions to the development of our school other than being a good teacher. I'm a new teacher here, all I care about is how to be a good teacher and how to finish the entire curriculum plan that the school gives me. If I put too much effort into participating in the planning activities, that'll be much too pressure on me. I can't handle that.

Another teacher respondent, Liu, who is also a new teacher, disagreed with Chen:

As a new teacher who has just graduated from school, I am quite interested in participating in school planning activities. I used to be a student leader when I was in the university. Now I am the leader of sports in our education group. I find it particularly enjoyable when I am organizing activities.

Of the above two teachers, Liu is more empowered than Chen in terms of SA. As we can see, Liu takes more initiative to participate in SA actives. Therefore, it may be implied that SA power is more beneficial to those teachers who have resources or talents or are pursuing administrative positions. This is also reflected by Dean Tian, who is the administrator in charge of teaching affairs. He said that for the twenty years of his teaching, he has had great enthusiasm for school affairs. He was the group leader of the mathematics teaching group, and the leader of the teachers' union. When the author asked which one he values more, the SA or the CP? He said it is obvious that teachers' basic task is teaching, therefore, there is no reason to reject the importance of CP. But for

himself, SA is more important because his talent is better served in administration than in teaching. He said: "although I am a good teacher, I'm not the most talented one. I can't be an excellent teacher. But I'm good at dealing with school affairs. I can always make excellent plans for school affairs. Becoming an administrator was the target I set for myself after two years of teaching, and this is why I put so much energy on school activities." However, forcing teachers to become involved in SA when they don't want to may have a negative effect, making those teachers feel less empowered, because these teachers become overwhelmed and resentful toward the additional work, the original purpose of raising teacher empowerment being lost.

## 4.2.2 Empower Teachers by Giving Curriculum Power

As stated earlier, most teachers at Dalian No. 24 feel more empowered when they have curriculum power. Curriculum power provides an opportunity for teachers to interpret the curriculum in terms of "what to teach" and "how to teach". It aims to improve teachers' professional status in educational planning and develop teachers' curriculum knowledge in order to improve the quality of education for students.

In order to assess teacher empowerment, curriculum power was broken down into creation power and implementation power in this research. It was analyzed within the context of professional judgment.

#### 4.2.2.1 Curriculum Creation Power

Curriculum creation power is a subset of curriculum power and a component of teacher empowerment. It is one of the basic requirements of the NCR (Ministry of Education, 2001; Zhong et al, 2001). It includes two elements: the design of curricula according to the national curriculum plans, and the revision of teaching methods based on preexisting curriculum plans.

When teachers have high creation power, they feel more empowered. The results of this study demonstrated that each teacher was aware they possessed the ability and freedom to design their own curriculum plans. However, the degree of innovation varied based on teachers' attitudes towards the NCR requirements. Respondents who were new teachers were more willing to make changes to their original teaching plans in order to increase the quality of education and consequently felt more empowered. Teachers with more experience were less willing to innovate and were more concerned with achieving high marks on the College Entrance Exams (CEE) and subsequently, in terms of the definition of empowerment used in the study were less empowered. It seems intuitive that this would be the case, as the more experienced teachers excelled according to their ability to achieve high marks; however, more data is need to substantiate these indications, which are worthy of future study.

Despite these indications, even though the younger teachers felt more empowered,

their ability to interpret the curriculum is constrained by China's curriculum assessment regime. Because curriculum evaluation lacks substantive reforms, teachers aren't able to incorporate much creativity into their lesson plans without sacrificing the state mandated requirements for the College Entrance Exams (CEE). Six of twelve interview respondents, including the principal, viewed the success of the curriculum reform as dependent on and strongly linked to the CEE requirements.

#### According to Principal Huang:

Although high school curriculum reform has been carried out for seven years, the College Entrance Examination is still ruling the educational mandate. The direction of the CEE reform is unclear; the burden on students is still too heavy. The delayed introduction of the CEE plans caused the biggest confusion to this curriculum reform for teachers. On top of being responsible for students' success on the CEE, teachers were given additional materials to teach, resulting in an increased student workload and homework. Therefore, the burden on students actually increased after the reform.

This is also supported by teacher respondent Wang:

What you have been taught when you were at high school is still the same today, without any changes...every teacher who taught grade 12 teaches by following the exam outline. They only teach what it requires. Students therefore have

limited time to study. If the teacher is teaching some content not required by the CEE, students think the teacher is wasting their time. The teaching schedule within the same grade should be consistent. If you are engaging in innovation, the teaching schedule is difficult to maintain.

Moreover, research also shows that the exercising of curriculum creation power varies by teachers' attitudes towards the original curriculum, teaching experiences and ability to accomplish curriculum plans. As noted above, this study's results show that novice teacher respondents were more willing to use curriculum creation power, while veteran teacher respondents were less willing to do so. This is evidenced by respondent Wu, a new teacher with only half a year of experience:

I don't want to teach like my childhood teachers. They just taught us according to the textbooks. The amount of knowledge provided by them was too limited and had no variety. When taught in this way, students do not like the classes in the long run and teachers feel tired of them too. During my lesson planning, I searched the Internet to access the relevant information to supplement the teaching content. Students like the way I teach and so do I.

Interestingly, teachers with more experience no longer consider the completion of teaching tasks as the only target. They have enough teaching experience and ability to control any chaos triggered by innovation. Through innovation, these experienced

teachers are capable of forming personalized teaching styles and have the ability to improve their individual teaching methods. Unfortunately, data from this study revealed that although experienced teachers are more capable of curriculum creation, they are less willing to do so than newer teachers. Note teacher respondent Sun, who has 23 years of teaching experience;

I don't know why I should make changes to my curriculum plans. I have already taught for twenty years, my students have great scores and can go to excellent universities. I feel if I change my teaching methods, there will be an influence on their scores. Therefore, I don't want to do so.

Again, for teachers such as Sun, the emphasis is on obtaining high test scores over the NCR mandate of quality education.

#### 4.2.2.2 Curriculum Implementation Power

Curriculum implementation power is the strongest component of teacher empowerment. It is decided by the effectiveness of curriculum plans teachers design and teachers' teaching ability and experience. Throughout this study, no matter how many years a teacher has taught, each teacher was capable of inserting his or her individual curriculum design into practice. Respondent Wang, a teacher with seven years of experience, states: "How to teach is a teacher's own work. In the class, teachers are the leaders. We can teach however and whatever we want. This is the greatest power I have."

However, just because these teachers are capable of curriculum implementation power does not mean they can actually fulfill this power. Findings from this study indicate that curriculum implementation power is dependent upon both curriculum creation power and the demands of the CEE. Therefore, there is a correspondence between the lack of teacher empowerment, teachers' ambitions and the university entrance exam. These ambitions include high student marks on the CEE, to grant a stable income and/or promotion to teaching the graduating class. Data from this study indicates that although many respondents think they have curriculum implementation power, they are actually still operating within the constraints of their ambitions, making them less empowered. This interesting point deserves future inquiry.

Although teachers with less experience accept change with more ease, as in the case of curriculum creation power, they are the group that is most limited in implementing these changes. During the data analysis, the author found that young teachers have the most difficulty with curriculum implementation due to their lack of teaching experience and thereby lack the ability to fully implement their plans. According to teacher respondent Liu:

When I first started teaching, I wanted desperately to get familiar with all the textbooks and knowledge points in case I forgot something in the class. All I want is to complete the teaching task. As allowed by the NCR, I have the opportunity to make my own curriculum plans. I have tried a lot of new methods,

after all, young people have a lot of new ideas, but in practice, I found myself unable to keep up with the teaching tasks. And now my teaching methods mimic those of veteran teachers.

Moreover, due to the difficulties in implementing NCR changes, some required curriculum plans cannot be fully put into practice. Note respondent Wu:

Students today have flexible minds and a wide range of knowledge. Sometimes because I may not have complete knowledge on certain points, when students ask questions, I have to spend too much time to explain. I have to brainstorm quickly at the same time. This delays teaching activity and my ability to deliver required content. Sometimes students lose focus. I have to maintain classroom order at all times. This becomes a waste of my time as well.

#### According to Zhou:

I felt if I taught in old ways, I can only follow the steps of old teachers. It is too difficult to go beyond them. The new national curriculum reform offers me an opportunity to stand out. I am trying to teach with the method advocated by the new national curriculum reform. However, I found plenty of problems. For example, if you want to fully embody students' autonomy, most of my classes will not be finished on time.

Observations at Dalian No. 24 indicate that experienced teachers have high

implementation power, but low creation power. This is probably because experienced teachers tend to develop their teaching methods to achieve high exam marks, not high quality education. Their understanding and mastery of curriculum content, teaching processes and students' learning characteristics is extensive. Thus, their curriculum creation might be more practicable than that of novice teachers. Moreover, they are better able to put their designs into practice. Even when the thought of teaching high scoring students may deviate from their expectation, they also have the ability to achieve the teaching targets by encouraging students' creativity. They can teach more skillfully. In this sense, they have the power to change but are often unwilling to deviate from the fixed-teaching model. This study raises this contention as notable.

# 4.2.3 Interpretation of Empowerment in terms of Teachers' Experience

While analyzing the data, it became apparent that teachers' attitudes towards teacher empowerment are also influenced by their teaching experience. Therefore, data were also examined within the context of Huberman's teacher's career cycle (Huberman, 1989). Huberman's teacher's career cycle states that every teacher is in one of four periods in their careers. Huberman called these four periods PI, PII, PIII or PIV.

All ten interview teacher respondents (excluding the principal and the administrator) in this study were classified as PI, PII, PIII or PIV (See Table 4.1). Their responses were then comparatively analyzed. According to Huberman's research, teacher empowerment

ranks highest in the second and third periods (Huberman, 1989). Some argue this is because newer but not novice teachers are more accepting of change and haven't been influenced by older teaching styles. Others contend that younger teachers are more technologically adept and can more easily work with concepts introduced by the NCR, therefore making them more empowered.

Table 2 Huberman's Teacher Career Cycle

Periods		Names	Features	
PI	(0-3 years)	Wu, Li, Chen	The first period (P1) is the starting	
	-Novice teachers		period of teaching profession. In	
			this period, teachers tend to worry	
			about being academically qualified.	
			However, they usually possess a	
			high level of passion.	
PII	(4-6 years)	Zhao, Zheng	The second period (PII) is known as	
	-Mid-career		the stable period. Teachers in this	
	teachers—		period have a firm understanding of	
	intermediate period.		teaching methods. They focus less	
			on personal qualifications and more	
			on teaching activities.	
PIII	(7-9 years)	Zhou, Wang	The third period (PIII) is a period of	
	-Mid-career		experiment and change. Teachers in	
	teachers—intermediate		this period begin to personalize	
	period but with		teaching methods and to seek new	
	increased abilities.		ideas and challenges.	
PIV	(10 years and above)	Zhang, Sun, Li	The fourth period (PIV) is the	
	-experienced teachers		calming and estrangement period.	
			Teachers can easily complete	
			teaching tasks with more	
			confidence. However, having	
			gradually realized their career goals,	
			teachers' ambition is lower.	

Although PI teachers are less experienced, many PI respondents felt that they held more freedom in choosing methods of curriculum development and curriculum activities. PI respondent Wu said, "I feel different when I am a teacher. I can decide what to teach and how to teach. Unlike when I was a student, I had no choice but to listen to the teachers."

PIV respondents have more professional experience and have consequently accumulated a large number of useful curriculum resources through past teaching activities. PIV respondents felt teaching now was easier than when they started. According to Sun, who is a PIV respondent with 23 years' experience:

I have been teaching for twenty years. I have bought a lot of reference books. Only a few of them are used in daily teaching activities. It is pretty easy for me to teach nowadays. I only need to sort and utilize the methods and content I used before.

Although, as evidenced above, PIV respondents feel developmentally stable in their teaching methods, these teachers are limited by their already established teaching methods with individually familiar content and activities, which are rooted in the traditional Chinese education system, largely ignoring any new curriculum concepts. According to another PIV respondent, Li, a teacher with twenty years seniority, "Why should we develop new curriculum resources? It is enough to teach what the textbook said. I haven't heard about [teacher empowerment] before."

Note another PIV respondent, Zhang, a teacher with ten years' experience who is unsatisfied with the NCR:

I just got familiar with the contents of grade twelve, with more confidence to teach students better. The new curriculum rewrites the textbooks. A new curriculum standard is also released. I feel the new design of curriculum content varies greatly with the previous one. I have to add many things in order to enable the students to understand the new content. In this case, a lot of materials I prepared before are useless now. I can only use a limited amount of former materials alongside the new ones. This doesn't work too well.

Results from the interviews show that, five out of the ten teachers were not satisfied with the new curriculum design, most of whom are PIII and PIV teachers. Three out of ten thought it was useful, but requires too much work and increases their workloads. Finally, only two out of ten teachers were satisfied and totally supportive of the new standard. Data suggests that in terms of exercising curriculum power, teachers in PII, PIII and PIV have significantly higher power than those in PI. History shows (Hemric et al, 2010) that teacher empowerment is best utilized by competent teachers, who are capable of paying more attention to the extra power, specifically the power inherent in the curriculum reform movement. Teachers in PI are still trying to establish themselves in their profession and are preoccupied with completing basic teaching tasks. Many do not have the spare time or energy to consider the possibilities of the extra teaching power.

Unfortunately, if these young teachers do want to fight for some power, their words do not carry much weight. And as the results suggest, in the short term, they may give up and gradually lose their desire for power. Although PIV respondents were the most unwilling to change teaching concepts, research data indicate that PIV teachers hold the most power in implementing the new methods. They also have the capability to use this power since many PIV teachers hold important positions in schools, such as teaching graduating classes. This study then suggests that if PIV teachers would accept these teaching reforms, they could be recognized more easily by schools and teacher empowerment could be exemplified by them to other less experienced teachers.

### **4.2.4 Factors Influencing Teachers Empowerment**

This study found that the following factors influence teacher empowerment: administration, teachers, student evaluation, social culture and teachers' income and promotions. These factors will be explored individually in detail below.

## 4.2.4.1 Administration's effects on teacher empowerment

### 4.2.4.1.1 Principal's leadership ability and awareness of curriculum power.

The study suggests that the incorporation of teacher empowerment into a school is contingent upon the principal's working style. Because teacher empowerment can change a school's curriculum and decision-making culture, it is important that a school's principal be open to new ideas and allow for teachers to become more involved in school

affairs.

According to data from all 12 respondents, Principal Huang's working style is democratic and encourages free expression for the sake of the school's, teachers' and students' development. According to Principal Huang:

I never restrict teachers' power. I fully encourage teachers to develop in their subjects to become professional teachers. I also encourage teachers to innovate, but it should be reasonable, in order to be leaders in the subject.

Principal Huang holds regular teaching conferences and teachers' congresses to hear suggestions and to discuss issues related to school and curriculum development.

According to Wang:

Teaching seminars are regularly held within different subjects to discuss recent teaching problems. Sometimes debate is fierce, but we basically can achieve a consensus. An assembly of teachers is held annually. Opinions can be expressed at that time as well. The principal will respond to the suggestions and questions after a period of time, which is good enough for us.

Principal Huang's democratic working style allows teachers to improve their teaching methods and is conducive to addressing teachers' concerns. In addition, Principal Huang continually improves his professional ability, participating in a variety of training and learning activities. Through this exchange of ideas and learning, his

knowledge of educational theory and knowledge of reform improves. This ultimately helps teachers become more empowered, because he is aware of and knowledgeable about the importance of teacher empowerment. From the observations in this study, it appears that an amenable principal greatly enhances reform efforts.

As explored above, a principal's educational theory, management style and curriculum leadership influences teacher empowerment. When a principal has a clear understanding of curriculum power he or she is able to pay more attention to the issue of teacher empowerment. Similarly, when a principal has strong leadership skills he or she will be better able to empower teachers. With poor leadership, the principal is unable to guide the new environment. By consequence, teacher empowerment can be misdirected or misused. This idea is reflected by Principal Huang:

Since the beginning of the NCR, almost every teacher is required to be given more power. It seems to be a 'fashion' within the school. But it is limited in its specificity. Teachers actually do not know what to do, neither do the administrators. After several seminars held by the Ministry of Education and discussions with other schools' principals, I realize they need my guidance to use their power. I organized several discussion meetings for every grade's education groups, and I attended them all. I listened to their concerns and gave them my understanding of this issue [of teacher empowerment]. It worked pretty well. But at the same time, the school's administrator groups and I have to make certain

constraining rules in order to make sure this power is not abused. For example, teachers have the right to make their own curriculum plans. But at the same time, it doesn't mean they can teach whatever they want. They can extend the knowledge in the textbook, but it has to be related to the examination guidance. Therefore, the learning progression can be ensured.

### 4.2.4.1.2 The support of school conditions

The impact of a school's condition on teacher empowerment is mainly reflected in three areas: funding, time, and systemic issues (Wang & Pan, 2000). Funding refers to the economic guarantee behind the exercise of teacher empowerment, such as school construction and funding for teachers' further learning. Without enough funding, the exercise of teacher empowerment is limited. With respect to time, teachers should be given time to do activities outside of teaching. Systemic issues refer to the structure imposed to support teacher empowerment. When there is limited structure in place, teacher empowerment is also limited. With these elements, teachers would have more opportunities for additional training. As well, they would have more time to focus on other activities beyond teaching to the CEE.

According to the data, Dalian No. 24's current standing, reflected in a school's funding, time and system, is not ideal. As respondent Wang, a teacher with seven years seniority stated, "The school also did some activities according to the NCR at the

beginning of reform. However, it didn't have a specific method. After a long time, teachers were no longer interested in it."

The impressions from this study indicate that in Dalian No. 24 most teachers are too busy with daily work, which doesn't allow them time to attend to school affairs, curriculum resources or research. Various kinds of structures are not sound or not in place, such as how to guarantee teachers gain power and how to support and lead the enactment of teacher empowerment. These imperfect structures cannot guarantee teacher empowerment for teachers. Even when teachers are increasingly empowered, the empowerment may be difficult to maintain.

### 4.2.4.2 Teachers' effects on teacher empowerment

#### 4.2.4.2.1 Teachers' understanding of teacher empowerment

This study suggests that teachers' understanding of teacher empowerment corresponds with the amount to which schools incorporate its elements. Data affirm that most respondents were able to recognize the importance of teacher empowerment.

Table 3 Understanding of Teacher Empowerment

Name	Indifferent	Understand but not	Understand and is
		important	important
Zhang			✓
Sun		√	
Wang		✓	
Zhou			✓
Zhao	✓		
Li	✓	✓	
Zheng	✓		
Chen		✓	
Liu			√
Wu			4
Huang			√
Tian			✓

The above table shows the twelve participants' understanding of teacher empowerment. In this small sample, it is clear that work still needs to be done to raise awareness about the importance of teacher empowerment. On this basis, giving teachers power, support and guidance can effectively improve the capacity and efficiency of teacher empowerment at Dalian No. 24.

### 4.2.4.2.2 Awareness of power

This study examined respondents' awareness of power. Awareness of power is

defined as teachers' understanding, maintenance and exercise of empowerment. Therefore, this study gauged teacher empowerment by assessing respondents' awareness levels of teacher empowerment. Findings indicate that if respondents were unaware of teacher empowerment, then they were unaware of the power they could exercise over the curriculum and in the school. Consequently, these same respondents did not understand the importance of teacher empowerment for both teachers and students and ultimately the concept of teacher empowerment for them was meaningless.

Respondent Chen, who is the second year teacher, explained:

I don't know if I'm empowered or not. The only thing I do every day is teach. My central aim is to be a good teacher. Therefore, I teach whatever the textbook and examinations require me to teach. I can control my own class and make my own teaching plan, so in this sense, I'm empowered; but I have to follow the curriculum progress with other teachers, and thus, I'm not empowered, if that's what you mean.

From this statement, it is clear that Chen does not understand the power the school gives her, even if she believes she is the authority within the classroom. The author believes that the reason why some teachers are satisfied with their existing power is that they don't fully understand the connotations and functions of teacher empowerment. They often conflate the power they have in class with teacher empowerment. This also

explains why teachers' curriculum activities are often confined to their own classroom without the awareness of other curriculums' activities. Again, this factor is important to the discussion on teacher empowerment.

### 4.2.4.2.3 Curriculum ability

Teachers' curriculum ability is a fundamental component of teacher empowerment. Teachers with low abilities have more difficulty operating and fully exercising their power. Without sound understanding of empowering teachers, the NCR's mandate to decentralize decision-making authority and thus teacher empowerment is unlikely to be successful. This is because teachers will continue to teach state mandated information instead of pursuing what is best for their classrooms, reinforcing the status quo.

#### Principal Huang affirms these sentiments:

Most school affairs are made with the participation of experienced and capable teachers. For the others, even if the school lets them in, there will be limited amount of valuable suggestions contributed by them. At the beginning of curriculum reform, the school tried to implement the NCR's ideas and to empower teachers. However, most teachers didn't know how to use the new power. The school cannot to do that anymore. The school encouraged teachers to carry out creative teaching, but most teachers just pay attention to the innovation of methods, without considering the new teaching priorities. The quality of

instruction declined as a result. In addition, the school encouraged teachers to carry out school-based teaching, research, and writing of research papers. Many teachers had difficulty in starting. Some of them just downloaded research papers from the Internet. The teachers also wanted to have open-structured classes. However, when the class was 'open' disorder ensued. They could not achieve the teaching target. Teachers had to praise the new curriculum on the one hand, and follow the traditional way of teaching on the other hand.

According to Principal Huang's statement, teachers' curriculum ability has gained attention in the school. Teachers are encouraged to take actions, such as researching and writing research papers to improve their abilities. Doing more research activities during the teaching process, which is one way to encourage teachers to pursue improvement in their curriculum ability, already benefits their promotion and performance. In this way, teachers are more motivated to improve their professional ability.

#### 4.2.4.3 Social and cultural traditions

Data collected from respondents found that conflicts between the reforms and China's cultural traditions interfere with teacher empowerment. The way these cultural traditions constrain reform is profoundly impactful in this study. According to respondents, the way teachers, students and parents view education is habituated to the traditional way of doing things, namely, passive compliance. The teacher empowerment

that comes with NCR reforms challenges this habitual thought process. Teacher respondent Wang's statement reflects this:

I am just arranging the class according to the school's agenda. All I need to worry about is how to have a wonderful class. Other than that, I don't need to worry about anything. It has always been like this. We all feel normal. I think the others should have the same attitude as me.

#### 4.2.4.4 Teachers' income and promotions

Through analyzing the interviews, this study found a correspondence between teacher empowerment and teachers' income and promotions. Teachers whose students excel are promoted as leaders of their education groups. Consequently, they have more influence over curriculum planning and teaching methodology and have the opportunity to teach the graduating grade levels. A major incentive to teach graduating classes is bonuses teachers receive when their students receive excellent results in the College Entrance Exam (CEE) referred to as 'incentive money'. The teachers with better results achieve higher incomes. Hence, powerful incentives that contradict teacher empowerment are in place. According to Zhang, a teacher respondent:

Teachers who teach graduating classes have a higher average income than those that teacher grade 10 or 11. If the College Entrance Examination scores are particularly good that year, the head teachers will have large bonuses. If students

are admitted to several famous universities, bonuses are even higher. Therefore, most graduating class teachers want to be head teachers, especially those working in elite classes. But it is not up to teachers to decide who can be the head teacher. It is the school that makes the decision.

In addition to teaching graduating classes in pursuit of more money, this study reveals that many teachers also conduct private tutorials after school. The better the reputation a teacher has the more students attend their tutorials and the higher their tutorial fees are. This can be interpreted to mean that these teachers choose to pursue curriculum power due to their desire of pursuing a higher salary.

Therefore, this study found that teachers who received higher incomes by teaching graduating classes and tutorials valued curriculum power over school-affairs decision-making power. However, as stated earlier by the author, teachers in this position rigidly stick to the set curriculum to ensure good results and therefore do not experiment with new ideas or approaches. Therefore, they are less likely to accept teacher empowerment.

# 4.3 Teachers' Attitudes towards Teacher Empowerment and NCR

Throughout the interviews, the researcher found that teachers tend to have two distinct attitudes towards teacher empowerment under the NCR. One attitude is of low-acceptance and the other is of acceptance.

## 4.3.1 Attitude of Low-acceptance

Teachers with a low-acceptance attitude towards teacher empowerment and the NCR hold a negative attitude towards this movement. These teachers' curriculum ideas are almost exclusively textbook-based. The majority of textbooks from the NCR are completely new and revised. Thus the process of implementing the NCR is also one of implementing new textbooks. Therefore, a crucial problem teachers face in the NCR is how to adequately deliver the new materials and the new knowledge to students. For example, in the Dalian No. 24 Grade Ten Chinese TRG, a common response to NCR changes is that because there is more content, there isn't enough time to get through it. Additionally, students' acceptance is low. To finish the new material in limited time and ensure that students can keep up with the teaching schedule, conflict occurs. Thus, it raises the question "How have some teachers dealt with this issue?" First, class hours have been diverted from other subjects for example, computer technology or art, which are there to fulfill the NCR's requirement of subject diversity. In Dalian No. 24, most of these subjects do not have special teachers and are taught by teachers from other subjects, say Chinese teachers. Due to the constraints and pressures of the CEE these teachers will simply disregard the elective material and teach a Chinese class. Secondly, teachers are forced to speed up the teaching process. Texts which need four to five periods to cover adequately will be finished within one or two periods. Thirdly, teachers increase the amount of practice, as opposed to delivering new material. Time which is allocated to

teaching is diverted to practice. Students need to do a large amount of practice to consolidate the knowledge in the new texts. Fourth, teachers help students who have difficulty with the increased material. These teachers use their spare time to tutor students, often just to correct the misunderstandings or mistakes that come from the increased workload. In such ways, these teachers spend all their time outside of work teaching new knowledge, correcting assignments and tutoring students. These teachers do not have time to think about teacher empowerment or shoulder other responsibilities in the school.

Interestingly, these teachers are aware that the NCR allows them to make adjustments on which materials to teach. Not all the knowledge points need to be covered. When asked why they do not do this, Zhao, a teacher respondent with four years seniority said: "If I have taught every knowledge point, and let the students practice a lot, it is not my responsibility if he [the student] doesn't obtain high scores." Many such teachers are worried about the CEE. They think if they follow the requirement of the NCR, to teach selectively, when their selections deviate from the requirements of the CEE, students' text scores will be negatively impacted. In this respect, these teachers' attitudes toward NCR actually subvert the aims of teacher empowerment.

## 4.3.2 Attitude of Acceptance

In contrast to the above teachers, how do teachers with high acceptance react to the NCR? The NCR and its new textbook have brought them the same increased workload.

However, these teachers are not firmly grounded on the old textbooks. They treat the NCR changes in a more flexible way. When the new contents are too much to fit into class hours, their solution is to teach the most important knowledge points and to practice with choices. At the beginning of each term, these teachers will try to get familiar with the new materials. According to their own teaching experience and expertise, they make choices and formulate the key knowledge points and difficult areas. Through discussion with other teachers and experts, they make decisions about selecting or deleting materials as well as formulate their education strategy. They will also make practice plans catering to the new contents and discuss them with other teachers in the TRG. They select out the most effective exercises together to ensure the breadth and depth of these texts. When the researcher asked why they did this, it was gathered that they wanted to grasp the core contents of the new material without putting too much pressure on the students. One of the teachers said in the survey:

I think the new material has some merit. It can widen students' reading range. Most students can learn enough knowledge during their school time. Although there are too much new materials to cover adequately, we can comprise and combine them. For example, in the chapter we are teaching now, the main idea is to teach how to retell a story. Most of the texts in this chapter are quite similar. Therefore, we can synthesize similar knowledge points. Actually, we do not need to teach every text. If there are two texts that are similar to each other, the teacher

could list more exercises for the students to practice. If the teacher is stressed out, the students will overstrain themselves, too. In a word, it all depends on the teachers' understanding.

Moreover, in Dalian No. 24, according to Dean Tian, teachers in the upper grades will share their teaching plans as references for lower grade teachers. Effective methodologies that are commonly recognized by other teachers will be uploaded to the schools' question bank for sharing. The school will also provide training courses and lectures from experts to guide the teachers exploring the new material to make more effective lesson plans.

## 4.3.3 Differences between Low-acceptance and Acceptance

Through comparing the above two attitudes, we can find out the differences between these two kinds of teachers.

### **4.3.3.1** Pressure from Teacher Empowerment

The responsibility of preparation for the CEE is always the biggest pressure in teachers' daily work. Even in the teacher-proof curriculum, after teachers have lost their professional autonomy, they are still saddled with enormous pressure. They need to shoulder the pressure from the curriculum as well as make professional improvements. If the students score poorly, it is the teacher who shoulders this responsibility. Therefore, under the condition of teacher empowerment, teachers' responsibility increases

accordingly.

Accordingly, teachers who have an attitude of low-acceptance towards teacher empowerment can be forgiven. If the teacher gives up the power of adjusting to the new material given by the NCR, when the students' academic performance has problems, they can blame the new materials for leaving them too little time. They can also blame the examination when the range exceeds the teaching materials. Furthermore, they can blame the students for their low acceptance and understanding ability. The only part that will not be blamed is the teachers. They have completed all the required tasks in the new material, although every task is done in a hurry. "It is not my responsibility if he [the student] doesn't have good scores." Teachers such as this appear to be evading responsibility by giving up power. On the contrary, teachers with an attitude of acceptance are more willing to shoulder the responsibilities for students' performance and the development of curriculum reform. In that case, these teachers accept the concept of teacher empowerment much easier.

### 4.3.3.2 Different identities of teachers in relation to teacher empowerment

On the other hand, these two kinds of teachers have different professional identities when facing teacher empowerment and the NCR changes. Teachers with an attitude of low-acceptance recognize themselves as faithful executors of the new material, while the other teachers regard themselves as the adapters of the NCR and the new material. As

Zhou (2004) states, those teachers who recognized themselves as professionals and who do not feel uncomfortable with frequent change, will have the real autonomy of their profession. The NCR outlines the expectations of teachers clearly. It requires teachers to have professional autonomy to develop the new curriculum more in line with the needs of students' all-round development. Thus, why do teachers have different responses to this situation?

Teachers' expected role is dictated by external, social and even political systems. Teachers in different periods would vary a lot. In the "teacher-proof education" period, the teacher's role is solely an educator. They need only to pass the pre-designed curriculum content to students in a uniform method. However, with the current NCR, teachers are meant to be agents of curriculum, participating in the curriculum reform as experts. They cooperate with each other and share their identity within the group. One of the teachers said in the survey:

I have been in Dalian No. 24 for almost five years. My deepest impression is the cooperative atmosphere. For example, every month we have a demo class within our teaching and researching group. We used to have this kind of activity in my former school, but it was just perfunctory. It didn't help me a lot. After I came to No. 24, it greatly widened my horizon. I remember the first time I attended this kind of class. All the teachers, including the dean and the principal, listened carefully to the teacher who was giving the lecture. After the class, all the

teachers actively shared their in-depth comments. The quality and depth of their comments impressed me a lot. Although I didn't say anything at that time, I learnt a lot from it. Gradually I could share my ideas with other teachers. Now I can actively participate in these kinds of activities. I think my teaching career blossomed from it, which motivate me to be a better educator.

From this transcript we can see that this teacher holds an attitude of acceptance towards the NCR and is willing to take actions in this reform. The open and professional environment provided by No. 24 gives more opportunities and incentives for teachers to cooperate with others. Teachers' professional ideas generated after repeated reflection could be respected, accepted and recognized by their colleagues. This makes the teachers feel their participation is significant to the whole school, which will enhance teachers' self-identity as a professional educator. Therefore, they are more likely to have positive attitudes towards teacher empowerment and the NCR.

However, we should notice that the premise of being recognized by the school and teachers' ideas being recognized on a professional level is based on teachers' professional ability. At present, the knowledge has been updated quickly. Teachers' professional knowledge should not be narrowed but augmented every day. To some extent, the core of teachers' professional knowledge is the ability to continue learning and developing. The problems that the NCR brings to classroom education never appeared before, which cannot be solved by teachers' previous knowledge or experience. What should teachers

do? One way is to learn from practice, reflection and ongoing communication.

This kind of acceptance attitude can be easily found in teachers at Dalian No. 24. There is the case of Teacher G. She is a mathematics teacher from the Grade eleven TRG. She said in the survey that she is a young teacher with six years seniority. And other teachers in her TRG are senior teachers with extensive teaching experiences. "I have been in this group for only half a year. I always want to share something different with other group members. Some of them share their experiences, while others share solutions to particular problems. I will try to find some innovative ideas from the internet to try to make my ideas more appealing." Behind Teacher G's case is the process of learning. Through continuous learning and self-development, teachers can maintain their confidence when facing the challenges of NCR. But when the school does not encourage teachers to cooperate with others, teachers will tend to focus on their own work, without identifying themselves as researchers or innovators, but only as passive implementers of the curricula.

## 4.3.4 Responsibility of Teacher Empowerment and Teachers' Attitudes

Teacher empowerment makes people pay more attention to teachers' power and ability. However, in the current situation for teacher empowerment in the NCR, the increased responsibility is what holds teachers back. In this regard, the researcher wanted to ask if teachers are given more responsibility to exercise their power.

There is no doubt that in Dalian No. 24 most teachers began to shoulder the professional ability given by the NCR to make professional decisions. However, this does not mean the teachers do not have additional pressures. It is the school who shared these pressures with the teachers. But we still need to realize that the responsibility that the school shares is only a part of it. The majority of the responsibility is still on the shoulders of the teachers. However, teachers in the same school still have opposing attitudes towards teacher empowerment. To realize teacher empowerment fully, the relationship between teacher empowerment and responsibility should be balanced. Without too many pressures, teachers can identify themselves as the true professional educators and agents of curriculum reform. The school can create a professional atmosphere to empower teachers. With joint effort, the school, teachers and students can be the beneficiaries of curriculum reform.

## 4.4 Existing Problems in Teacher Empowerment

## 4.4.1 Teachers' Education Ability Should be Improved

Teachers' education ability refers to the initiative of participating in their school's curriculum affairs and curriculum practices in order to increase the students' educational experience. Teacher empowerment attempts to fundamentally guarantee teachers' education ability. Teachers under-qualified in their curriculum area cannot achieve this power. Misuse and abuse of power can also occur. This study confirmed the results of

existing research that says that at present high school teachers' curriculum knowledge needs to be improved for the following four reasons:

First, teachers' decision-making abilities surrounding the curriculum are weak. Some teachers have difficulty providing effective curriculum suggestions, even when they have been given the opportunity to participate in their curriculum decision-making process. Instead, these teachers parrot what other teachers have said or come up with unrealistic opinions. As evidence by Teacher M from the Grade ten History TRG:

This is the second year of my teaching. During these two years, I found that the knowledge or teaching method I learned from the school is not very practical in the teaching process. I was quite willing to show my enthusiasm when I started teaching. I came out with a lot of good ideas (at least I thought they were good ideas) to innovate the teaching method in our weekly group meeting. However, although our group leader encouraged me to say more about it, I found the senior teachers were not that interested in these ideas. And gradually, during the practice, I found those ideas were hard to implement, and may negatively influence my teaching process. I became quiet when the other teachers share their ideas and was more willing to take others' good ideas into my classroom. And I think this is a good shift. Learning from others makes me grow faster.

From Teacher M's experience, we can see that his enthusiasm for innovation was

very high at the beginning of his career. However, fellow teachers' experiences and attitudes influenced his enthusiasm and gradually he is more willing to take others' ideas instead of creating his own. This may be due to his lack of experience. But the influence of habits should not be ignored. Once this teacher forms a habit, he is less likely to innovate even when he becomes a senior teacher.

Second, curriculum development capacities of teachers, which are teachers' curriculum creation abilities, are also weak. The NCR encourages teachers to develop and make use of various curriculum resources in order to implement a personalized teaching method. However, many teachers do not use curriculum resources other than reference books. For example, Wang said: "Most of the resources prepared for my class are from the national textbooks, which is also the guideline for the College Entrance Examination. Although I also gather some resources from the Internet, it can only be used as an assistant tool, not the central one. I'm afraid if I use too many materials outside the textbooks, I may miss the exam points. Moreover, I don't think the resources I found are more effective for students' learning. The textbooks are designed by the experts, who are also the designer of the CEE after all." His idea is also supported by Principal Huang who said that some teachers solely seek to innovate. However, without scientific training and practice, the curriculum they designed interfered with the daily teaching tasks they should have accomplished. Therefore, the school encourages teachers to consider the teaching tasks more when creating their own curriculum.

Third, teachers' evaluation of students is limited by the CEE. The NCR requires teachers to use different kinds of evaluation methods, but many teachers are unable to utilize the new methods. For example, according to the interviews, many teachers do not understand a new implementation process called the 'growth record file', which catalogues and records a student's work in order to track progress. According to Sun, "I think the best way to evaluate students' performance is their scores. It is also the only evaluation method for CEE. Almost a year after the NCR came out, the school asked us to use the 'growth record file' to evaluate students' performance. Even today, I can't understand or see the benefit of it." Instead, many teachers at Dalian No. 24 only compile students' course transcripts, award records and final comprehensive quality reports in this file. By doing this, these teachers fail to analyze and understand information in the growth record file. Instead of using the opportunity to measure creativity and ability, students under teachers like the above continue to be evaluated only by recorded exam scores.

Fourth, teachers lack strong curriculum inquiry abilities. Due to the influence of old curriculum habits, personal ability, school culture, and limitations of time, high school teachers' awareness of curriculum inquiry is lacking. Many teachers have accumulated sufficient experience to practice, but don't take actions to enhance their foundational knowledge. Some of them are forced to do research activities, because it is related to their performance and for promotion. But this makes some teachers try to squeeze through, and

the research process does not make useful contributions to improve teachers' ability. The idea of "teachers as researchers" has already been affirmed by the state. However, under the current situation, many areas still need to be improved.

## 4.4.2 The Lack of Teacher Empowerment and Low Self-efficacy

This study's results indicate that, firstly, high school teachers have insufficient power in the selection of teaching materials and curriculum content. The situation of teaching solely based on textbooks and reference books still exists. This once again shows the shortage of teachers' curriculum development abilities. It also shows that teacher empowerment is limited within a certain range.

abilities to participate in the school's curriculum Secondly, teachers' decision-making process are low. They passively accept and obey the school's curriculum arrangement. Overall, the lack of power results in teachers' low self-efficacy. This may lead to two consequences: one is that even when they are encouraged to participate, they may lack the confidence to exercise it because they have been accustomed to working without power. Secondly, teachers may lose interest in curriculum power. The scheme of high school curriculum reform has put forward higher requirements for teachers, who shoulder an increased burden.

## 4.4.3 Teachers' Curriculum Creation Power is Facing Difficulties

The new high school curriculum reform is still in the experimental stage. It indicates

the direction in which China's high school education is heading. The NCR has established educational concepts, such as "quality education", and it attempts to fundamentally change the traditional examination-oriented education. The NCR made many changes based on the existing problems in high school education. Curriculum content is no longer comprised solely of subject oriented teaching. The skills of life-long learning are becoming the themes of student education.

However, the choice of curriculum content must emphasize the importance of selectivity in order to meet the different needs of students' development. With respect to curriculum implementation, old syllabi don't address individual students' learning processes. However, the NCR is committed to individual student development. Schools are beginning to offer introductory curriculum directions and manuals for elective courses. Students are beginning to be encouraged to explore their interests in order to achieve greater overall success in schools.

Additionally, the NCR requires schools to strengthen the creation of curriculum resources, make effective use of existing curriculum resources and to have a more personalized high school curriculum. The NCR also requires schools to use a comprehensive evaluation system that takes students' academic scores and growth record into consideration in order to give students greater developmental space. Schools must establish comprehensive and dynamic growth record books based on the evaluation principle of diversity. Schools must comprehensively use observations, communication,

tests, exercises and self-evaluation to fully reflect students' growth.

The scheme of high school curriculum reform has put forward higher requirements for teachers. Results show that given the present state of teacher empowerment, it is difficult to achieve the curriculum reform's objectives. Teachers must be more empowered so they can adapt the curriculum's content, structure, implementation and evaluation. Many changes are new to teachers. They must move forward with caution. During this process, failure and disorder are inevitable. Therefore, sufficient power, especially curriculum creation power, must be given to teachers as well as allow them to make mistakes in the process. By doing this, schools stimulate teachers' active participation in curriculum reform. The CEE is considered the main cause for low curriculum creation, as discussed earlier in this paper. From here, the reform of CEE is the route that a school must take to improve its teachers' curriculum creation power.

# 4.4.4 Principals' Understandings of Teacher Empowerment Needs to be Further Improved.

Chinese education laws stipulate that a schools' principal is responsible for school teaching and administration management. Therefore, a principal's educational concepts and management methods play an extremely important role in teacher empowerment. As mentioned before, the current high school principals' working style is mostly democratic in Dalian No. 24. However, by his own admission, his understanding and attention to

teacher empowerment still needs to be improved.

A principals' lack of clear understandings of teacher empowerment results in the prolonged centralization of Chinese curriculum power. Most existing initiatives of teacher empowerment at Dalian No. 24 are limited but do touch the core issues. Principal Huang affirmed this concept. According to Huang, "It is not a good school without a high enrollment rate." From his perspective, recent teacher empowerment is a concern. He believes it is too much for teachers to undertake. If more power is given to the teachers, the situation would be hard to manage. The principal's view might be representative of other school administrators' views on teacher empowerment. The reasons vary, of course. For high schools, a high enrollment rate is important, as well the current teachers' abilities do not always warrant more power. Although teacher empowerment is still facing many difficulties in China, it is the general trend of education development. With the gradual promotion of curriculum reform, teachers will gain more power to better meet the needs of student development. Therefore, as an administrator of a school, the principal must plan ahead in ways to empower his teachers.

# 4.4.5 Teachers' Awareness of Collaboration Needs to be Further Improved

Many areas of teacher empowerment require collaboration between teachers, including curriculum development, policy making and evaluation. Several aspects of

teacher empowerment require teachers to exchange and share experiences and knowledge. However, some educational administrative departments force collaboration between high school teachers. This kind of man-made collaboration aims to manipulate teachers' working environments to fit the NCR mandate. It is superficial and through it the meaning of collaboration is lost.

The interview results show that teachers with different seniority have different views toward teacher empowerment. The interview results also show an effective lack of collaboration. According to the interviews, the high school teachers' most common form of collaboration is collective lesson preparation. Discussions mainly focus on content instead of methodology. Even such discussions are not occurring often. What happens most often is that new teachers simply copy old teachers' ideas and methods. This type of cooperation does not lead to innovation or creation. This lack of effective collaboration is one of the reasons why teacher empowerment is floundering.

## 4.5 Summary

This study exposed many problems that impact and constrain teacher empowerment. School affairs decision-making and curriculum power are two central elements in the implementation of teacher empowerment. The principal, school culture, teachers' attitudes towards teacher empowerment and the NCR, and social traditions are several key factors that influence teacher empowerment. In order to participate in curriculum

reform, teachers need to actively participate in school affairs and take initiative on achieving curriculum power in order to meet the challenges that accompany curriculum reform. To have better balance between curriculum reform and scores on the CEE, teachers should put more emphasis on their curriculum power. Although the NCR and teacher empowerment has much support by teachers in Dalian No. 24, it also needs more support culturally. The public's traditional attitude towards education and teaching needs to be changed. Otherwise the power given to teachers is limited and unlikely to be evidenced in practice, as testified by many interviewees. Teacher empowerment is only one part of the entire reform. Reasonably empowering teachers would be most advantageous when every part of the entire system shifts correspondingly.

### **5 Conclusions**

## **5.1** A Review of This Study

This study explores how teacher empowerment is exercised and valued in Dalian No. 24 Senior High School, which takes a leading position in both education and performance in regards to the NCR. Specifically, it explores how teachers in this school react towards teacher empowerment and the NCR. Based on the data collected, the researcher found that teachers in Dalian No. 24 are not as empowered as one might expect. As a leading school in Dalian, No. 24 actively takes initiatives in regards to the National Education Reforms. In terms of teacher empowerment, it has also promoted a lot of policies to facilitate teacher empowerment. However, due to the traditional education system and the pressures of the CEE, the exercising of teacher empowerment is not where it could be.

The researcher also found that teachers in this school tend to have two different attitudes towards teacher empowerment and the NCR: one of acceptance and one of low-acceptance. In Dalian No. 24, teacher empowerment, which is advocated by the NCR, is more likely to be considered by the school for the purposes of improving the curriculum. The school lacks in considering the improvement of teachers' personal understanding towards the NCR, as well as individual difficulties faced by teachers during implementation. However, when teachers are empowered, their responsibility increases accordingly. Therefore, in the same school, teachers' identities are different

from each other's. This difference makes teachers take a different approach towards NCR. Teachers with a low acceptance of new ideas and responsibilities tend to be faithful to traditional teaching methods when implementing the new curriculum. They give up the power that the curriculum reform is designed to give them. These teachers are uncomfortable with the changes carried out by the NCR. From their perspectives, they could achieve excellent teaching results with their traditional teaching methods. However, except for students' exam scores, the NCR requires the teachers to focus on other tasks, such as cultivating students' self-learning abilities. This new focus makes the teachers feel troublesome to achieve the goals set out by the NCR, which leads to their reluctance to accept the NCR. On the contrary, teachers with a strong sense of responsibility and high level of acceptance of new ideas position themselves as the executors of curriculum reform. They take teacher empowerment as an opportunity to show their professional abilities and creativities. Some teachers are excited to seize this power and attempt to use their professional autonomy to make decisions with the power that the curriculum reform provides for them. By some teachers' own words, this empowerment movement gives them the sense of "pride and freedom" in their own profession. As a result, they are more willing to participate in the reform. In sum, this analysis of their experience of the NCR is primarily related to their attitudes towards rather than their feelings about the NCR.

To conclude, successful implementation of teacher empowerment requires several actions to be done by teachers, the school and also the Ministry. With respect to teachers

from Dalian No. 24, they should be more open-minded. More training and advanced learning about curriculum concepts, teaching methodologies and curriculum development require more attention from teachers. They should also not be afraid of taking on more responsibilities and should be more critical towards existing teaching materials as long as their professional abilities qualify them to accomplish this task. As pointed out by Ball and Cohen (1996), teachers are the primary deliverers of reform to the classroom. Therefore, their reactions and attitudes towards teacher empowerment and curriculum reform are significant to its success. However, after rounds of curricular reform, many teachers in Dalian No. 24 have tended to become more conservative and eventually give up their power. This area needs to be improved.

With respect to the school, it should support teachers in their professional status and in further training, as well as shoulder more responsibility in the education outcomes. The school should provide an atmosphere supportive of reform. This type of atmosphere will give more confidence to teachers to implement these reforms. The principal's management style influences teacher empowerment as well. Principal Huang's working style in Dalian No. 24 is mostly democratic. However, by his own admission, his understanding and attention to teacher empowerment still needs to be improved. He is not opposing teacher empowerment, but he thinks teachers should use this power to achieve high exam scores and high college enrollment rate. The pursuit of high exam scores still limits the implementation of teacher empowerment.

Moreover, we need to seek the solution from the reform itself, and to find the balance between teacher empowerment and teachers' responsibilities. Various methods are needed to promote teachers' professional development as well. The Ministry should issue more relevant reform policies to direct, regulate and support teacher empowerment. These measures could enable schools to support teacher empowerment and curriculum reform more effectively.

#### **5.2 Conclusions**

Teacher empowerment involves the expansion of teachers' professional roles in daily educational activities. While fulfilling the requirements of curriculum reform, teacher empowerment allows teachers to have rights and to exercise professional judgment about what and how to teach, focusing on the quality of education, not simply teaching to the test. Teacher empowerment has vital practical significance to the Chinese NCR. As the main enactors of teacher empowerment, educators have compelling obligations to shoulder this responsibility. At the same time, the nation, society, universities and parents should also join force to assist high schools in achieving this goal, and promoting teachers to have rights to use and to know how to use those rights. Properly empowered teachers can fully enjoy participating in school affairs decision-making as well as have the power of curriculum creation, curriculum implementation and student evaluation. These powers should not be deprived or restricted. Teachers should also continually develop their professional practice in order to improve

their knowledge of the curriculum and its resources. Knowing how to use these rights means that, with the objective of students' development, teachers can improve their professional abilities. Bearing in mind the multiple levels of development of the students, the curriculum should be decided by the productive and collaborative uses of various curriculum powers given to teachers.

Specifically, in terms of decision-making and teacher empowerment, teachers could actively participate in school affairs and become more willing to express their ideas.

Teachers should strive to enhance their influence on school affairs and decision-making by constantly improving their professional ability.

In terms of curriculum development and teacher empowerment, teachers could develop more awareness of curriculum resource development. Teachers should attempt to enrich curriculum content and improve implementation processes by developing and utilizing new methodologies and varied curriculum resources. In terms of curriculum implementation and teacher empowerment, teachers could realize their ability to implement the curriculum subjectively by designing personalized curricula and implementing them creatively. In terms of curriculum creativity, teacher empowerment enables teachers to break through the limitation of textbooks. By combining their personal understanding of the curriculum and their own interpretations of the curriculum, teachers can encourage and guide students' creativity. In terms of student evaluation and teacher empowerment, teachers could objectively evaluate students through other ways

besides the examination since teachers are the witness to students' development. To summarize, teachers must play an active role in the endowment and exercise of teacher empowerment with corresponding professional activities. School principals, as another crucial element in the implementation of reform, should carry out effective controls during implementation to manage conflicts in the best interests of the students.

People have always sought power. The fundamental reason is that power can help people obtain more freedom (Jiang, 2005). However, high school teachers' desire for empowerment is not as strong as one would expect, at least not in Dalian No. 24. This study and corresponding research show that there are at least three reasons for this: First, some teachers are indifferent to becoming empowered, mainly because their awareness of teacher empowerment has not yet been cultivated. They think that the curriculum implementation power is all they need to have. But curriculum implementation does not guarantee more power to teachers, who are at the lowest end of the traditional power distribution structure. They could be more active to find their own voices in the school decision-making and curriculum creation process. Second, because Chinese teachers' professional abilities are not as specialized as those of other professionals, such as doctors and lawyers, the nation and schools are hesitant to fully empower teachers. According to Lao's research, "[i]n China, compared with the profession of doctors and lawyers, the teacher's career has not realized specialization (Lao, 2008)." The traditional power distribution in China causes the power to decrease when it is passed down from the

national to local level and from schools to teachers. For example in Dalian No. 24, its administrators are afraid that teachers cannot handle the power properly. They limit the power that is supposed to be given to the teachers. Teachers are still constrained by their traditional roles. In fact, some teachers indeed do not know what the power is for. They might have inappropriate understanding and interpretation of the power given to them. Without professional abilities, the purely pursuing of empowerment will ignore the fundamental target of teacher empowerment, which is students' all-round development. Third, the overall environment for implementing teacher empowerment needs to be improved. At present, national investment in education and schools and principal leadership cannot guarantee the realization of teacher empowerment. Moreover, due to the traditional education system and the pressures of the CEE, the exercising of teacher empowerment is not where it should be. Key elements, such as education funding, technological hardware and software development, partnership of high school and universities and the principal's leadership, still need to be significantly improved. All these reforms are not without risks and benefits. During reforms, setbacks encountered by schools and teachers are inevitable, which is the cost of reform. Teachers cannot passively wait. Instead, they need to engage in the practice of teacher empowerment and to grasp the power by changing their perspectives.

Through the research, several critical elements were found that are significant to the realization of teacher empowerment: teachers' awareness of reform, the principal's

professional leadership, supportive school environment and the Ministry's support. All of these elements influence one another and should be considered together.

Depending on the degree of teachers' changes, Fullan believed that education reform should at least have three aspects of change, including new teaching materials, new education methods and new education concepts. Teachers may change in one or two aspects, but it is hard to change all three of them simultaneously, especially the education concept (Fullan, 2011). Whitehead said the essence of life needs to draw from the destruction of pre-existing order (Whitehead, 1938). Realization of teacher empowerment necessarily encounters a period of disorder. Teachers are encouraged to destroy their old habits in order to achieve breakthroughs and transcendence of the traditional paradigm. Moreover, the significance of the principal's role is not to be disregarded. Principals have to shoulder the responsibility of guiding teacher empowerment's gradual realization, based on the needs of schools' and teachers' development. Through the interviews and research, the author found that the principal's concept of education and management have a decisive impact on teachers' working attitudes and styles. If the principal has advanced educational concepts and a democratic management style, he is perceived to be charismatic to teachers and the cohesion of teachers strengthens. Otherwise, teachers will care much less about the school's affairs (Lin & He, 2005). Leading teacher empowerment relies on a principal's advanced concept of education and democratic management style. It also requires the principal to possess strong curriculum leadership.

To realize teacher empowerment, the principal's role cannot be ignored.

With the deepening of curriculum reform, the need for teacher empowerment has increased progressively. However, based on the current state of Chinese basic education, it is unrealistic to realize teacher empowerment in a short period of time. Teacher empowerment is no longer a simple slogan. It is of critical importance to integrate and coordinate all efforts from national government, local communities, schools, teachers and parents in order to guide, support and control over teacher empowerment.

## **References:**

Apple, M. W. (2004). *Ideology and curriculum*. New York: RoutledgeFalmer.

Ball, D. L., & Cohen, D. K. (1996). Reform by the book: What is—or might be—the role of curriculum materials in teacher learning and instructional reform? *Educational Researcher*, 25(9), 6-14.

Bogler, R., & Somech, A. (2005). Organizational citizenship behavior in school: How does it relate to participation in decision making? *Journal of Educational Administration*, 43(5), 420-438.

Brandt, R. (1989). On teacher empowerment: A conversation with Ann Lieberman. *Educational Leadership*, 46(8), 23-24.

Burns, J. M. (2005). Leadership. SAGE Publications (London, Thousand Oaks, CA and New Delhi), 1(1), 11-12.

Cai, J. (2003). Authorize or empowerment? —How do principals lead with empowerment theory (授权抑或授权赋能? --论校长如何运用授权赋能领导). *Journal of Education Administration*, *43*(5), 62-79.

Cao, T., & Lu, N. (2006). Teacher empowerment: Connotation, significance and strategies (教师赋权增能: 內涵、意义与策略) *Curriculum; Teaching Material and Method*, 26(10), 78-81.

Chen, Y., & Walsh, D. (2008). Understanding, experiencing, and appreciating the arts: Folk pedagogy in two elementary schools in Taiwan. *International Journal of Education* & the Arts, 9(6).

- Cheng, R., & Ma, Y. (2008). Empowerment: Guarantee of teacher's classroom participation (赋权增能: 教师课堂参与的保障). *Studies in Foreign Education*, 2(1), 17-21.
- Cheng, Y. (2000). Educational politics. Nanjing: Jiangsu Education Publishing House.
- Conger, J. A., & Kanungo, R. N. (1998) The empowerment process: Integrating theory and practice. *Academy of Management Review*, *13*(3), 471-482.
- Connelly, F. M., & Ben-Peretz, M. (1980). Teachers' roles in the using and doing of research and curriculum development. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 12(2), 95-107.
- Cui, R. (2000). *Development of school based curriculum: Theory and practice* (校本课程 开发:理论与实践). Beijing: Science and Education Press, 19-21.
- Cui, R. (2001). Who will decides school's curriculum: A frame of analyze (谁来决定我们学校的课程:一种分析的框架). *Global Education*, *62*(1), 21-25.
- Dan, D. (1998). Schools of curriculum studies (课程流派研究). Jinan: Shandong Education Press.
- Danielwicz, J. (2001). *Teaching selves: identity, pedagogy, and teacher education*. New York: SUNY Press, 160
- Davis, J., & Wilson, S. M. (2000). Principals' efforts to empower teachers: Effects on teacher motivation and job satisfaction and stress. *The Clearing House*, 73(6), 349-353.
- Dee, J. R., Henkin, A. B., & Duemer, L. (2003). Structural antecedents and psychological correlates of teacher empowerment. *Journal of Education Administration*, 41(3), 257-277.

- Ding, G. (2001). Teacher professional development based on school-based curriculum (以教师专业发展为核心的校本课程开发). *Education Studies*, 89(2), 50-53
- Eisner, E. W., & Vallance, E. (1974). *Conflicting conceptions of curriculum*. Berkeley, Calif: McCutchan Pub. Corp.
- Firestone, W. A. (1993). Why "professionalizing" teaching is not enough. *Educational Leadership*, 50(6), 6-11.
- Fu, J. (2001). Teacher and school-based education development (教师与校本课程开发). *Educational Research*, 28(7), 56-60
- Fullan, M. (2011). *Change leader: Learning to do what matters most*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass/Wiley.
- Glenn, K. (1990). Teacher empowerment. Music Educators Journal, 77(2), 35-37.
- Gronn, P. (2002). Distributed leadership as a unit of analysis. *Leadership Quarterly*, 13(4), 51-53.
- Guan, Q., & Meng, W. (2007). China's new national curriculum reform: innovation, challenges and strategies. *Frontiers of Education in China*, 2(4), 579-604.
- Heck, R. H., & Brandon, P. R. (1995). Teacher empowerment and the implementation of school-based reform. *Empowerment in Organizations*, *3*(4), 10-19.
- Hemric, M., Eury, A. D., & Shellman, D. (2010). Correlations between perceived teacher empowerment and perceived sense of teacher self-efficacy. *AASA Journal of Scholarship & Practice*, 7(1), 37-50.
- Hicks, G. E., & DeWalt, C. S. (2006). Teacher empowerment in the decision making

process. Online Submission.

- Hu, D. (2004). Joint ownership of curriculum: A new distribution method of curriculum power (课程共有:一种新的课程权力分配方式). *Contemporary Educational Science*, 2004(6), 3-6.
- Hu, S. (2009). From empowerment system to improvement of individual capacity(从权力 控制到主体能力提升—论美国教师赋权运动中"权力观"的转变及其对专业教师发展的意义). *Contemporary Education Science*, *11*(4), 31-34.
- Huang, F. (2004). Curriculum reform in contemporary China: Seven goals and six strategies. *Curriculum Studies*, *36* (1), 101-115.
- Huang, X., & Cai, Q. (2005). Curriculum design—Theory and Practice (课程设计—理论与实际). Nanjing: Nanjing Normal University Press, 133.
- Huang, X., & Zhu, J. (2005). *Curriculum leadership and development of school-based curriculum* (课程领导与校本课程发展). Beijing: Science and Education Press, 222.
- Huberman, M. A. (1989). The professional life cycle of teachers. *Teachers College Record*, 91(1), 31-57.
- Jiang, Z. (2005). *Power theory: A study of legitimacy and rationality* (权力论:合法性合理性研究). Dissertation of Suzhou University.
- Jin, S. (2005). Theories of education power (论教育权利). *Journal of Peking University*, 57(2), 46-51.
- Karant, V. I. (1989). Supervision in the age of teacher empowerment. *Educational Leadership*, 46(8), 27-29.

Klecker, B., & Loadman, W. E. (1996). Exploring the relationship between teacher empowerment and teacher job satisfaction. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the Mid-Western Educational Research Association (Chicago, IL, October 5, 1996)

Klecker B. J., & Loadman W. E. (1998). Defining and measuring the dimensions of teacher empowerment in restructuring public schools. *Education*, 118(3), 360.

Kreisberg, S. (1992). *Transforming power: Domination, empowerment and education*. Albany: State University of New York Press.

Lambert, L. (2005). Leadership for lasting reform. Educational Leadership, 62(5), 62.

Lasswll, K. (1950). Power and society. New Haven: Yale University Press.

Lawson, T., & Harrison, J. K. (1990). Individual action planning in initial teacher training empowerment or discipline? *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 20(1), 89-105.

Lao, K. (2008). Teachers' career expertise and professional power (教师职业的专业性和教师的专业权利). *Journal of Educational Research*, 2008(2), 7-14.

Leach, L., Newtze, G., & Zepke, N. (2001). Assessment and empowerment: some critical questions. *Assessment and Evaluation in Higher Education*, 26(4), 293-305.

Lee, J. C., Yin, H., Zhang, Z., & Jin, Y. (2011). Teacher empowerment and receptivity in curriculum reform in China. *Chinese Education and Society*, 44(4), 64-81.

Lei, J. (2003). What kind of trainer is need in the new curriculum reform (新课程需要什么样的培训者)? *Journal of Hubei Institute of Education*, 2003(5), 65-67.

Li, D., & Duan, Z. (2004). Curriculum leadership and development (试论课程领导与课程发展). *Journal of Curriculum and Textbooks*, 2004(2), 3-7.

- Li, D., & Xu, J. (2004). *Twenty years research on curriculum theories* (课程论研究二十年). Beijing: People's Education Press, 153.
- Li, L. (2004). Teacher empowerment in school-based curriculum (本课程开发中教师增权之探.教育理论与实践). *Theory and Practice of Education*, *19*(4), 45-47.
- Li, J. (2008). Empowerment and professional growth of primary and secondary school teachers(论中小学教师赋权与专业发展). *The Modern Education Journal*, 9(3), 15-21.
- Li, J., & Chang R. (2006). Teacher empowerment in America (教师赋权在美国). *Journal of Changzhi University*, 23(3), 60-62.
- Li, X. (2000). Powers of teachers and students and role analysis (师生权力与角色分析). *Theory and Practice of Education, 34*(2), 35-40.
- Li, Z., & Huang, X. (1996). Curriculum: Paradigm, orientation and design (second edition) (课程:范式、取向和设计(第二版)). Hong Kong: Chinese University Press, 374.
- Lichtenstein, G., Mclauglin, M., & Knudsen, J. (1992). *Teacher empowerment and professional knowledge*. New Brunswick: State University of New Jersey Press.
- Lightfoot, S. L. (1986). On goodness in schools: themes of empowerment. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 63(3), 9.
- Lin, Y., & He, Q. (2005). Research on the relationship among school curriculum leadership, organizational culture and teacher professional growth (学校课程领导、组织文化与教师专业发展关系的研究). *Jiangxi Educational Research*, 2005(7), 8-10.
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. New York: Sage.
- Liu, D. (2004). Orientation and development of "soft power" ("软权力"说的由来与发

展). Journal of social sciences of the Jilin University, 2004(4), 55-62.

Liu, Y. (2006). Obstacles and strategy of teacher empowerment (教师授权的障碍与对策). *Journal of Curriculum and Textbooks*, 2006(11), 76-79.

Ma, Y., Zhang, S., & Yang, G. (2008). Understanding of new curriculum reform—A case based on a rural school (努力提高教师对新课程改革的认识与理解——所农村学校的个案研究). *Theory and Practice of Education*, 2008(4), 44-47.

Maeroff, G. (1989). The principles of teacher empowerment. *The Education Digest*, *54*(6), 6.

Maeroff, G. (1998). *The empowerment of teachers: Overcoming the crisis of confidence*. New York: Teachers College Press.

Marks, H. M., & Louis, K. S. (1997). Does Teacher Empowerment Affect the Classroom. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 19(3), 245-275.

Mcconnell, M.D. (1989). Teacher empowerment and the waves of reform. *NASSP Bulletin*, 73(521), 101-102.

McIntyre, D. J., & O'Hair, M. J. (1996). *The reflective roles of the classroom teacher*. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.

Melenyzer, B. J. (1990). Teacher empowerment: The discourse, meanings and social actions of teacher. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the National Council of States on In-service Education, Orlando, Florida.

Merriam, S. B. (1991). *Case study research in education: A qualitative approach*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.

Midgley, C., & Wood, S. (1993). Beyond site-based management: Empowering teachers to reform schools. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 107(4), 245-252.

Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook* (2<sup>nd</sup> Ed.). Thousand Oaks: Sage.

Ministry of Education of China. (2000) The curriculum plan for full-time regular senior high school (test revised version) (《全日制普通高级中学课程计划(试验修订稿)》).

Ministry of Education (2001). Compendium for curriculum reform of basic education (Experimental Draft). Beijing.

Moore, R. (1997). Transformation and teacher empowerment. *The Journal of Leadership Studies*, 4(3), 44-52.

Morris, V. G., & Nunnery, J. A. (1993) *Teacher Empowerment in a Professional Development School Collaborative: Pilot Assessment*. Memphis: Center for Research in Educational Policy, Memphis State University.

Moye, M. J., Henkin, A. B., & Egley, R. J. (2005). Teacher-principal relationship: Exploring linkages between empowerment and interpersonal trust. *Journal of Education Administration*, 43(3), 260-277.

Muijs, D., & Harris, A. (2003). Teacher leadership: Improvement through empowerment? Education Management and Administration, 31(4), 437-448.

Murray, A. (2010). Empowering teachers through professional development. *English Teaching Forum*, 48(1), 2-11.

Pearson, L. C., & Moomaw, W. (2005). The relationship between teacher autonomy and stress, work satisfaction, empowerment, and professionalism. *Educational Research* 

Ouarterly, 29(1), 38-54.

Pollak, C. J. (2009). Teacher empowerment and collaboration enhances student engagement in data-driven environments. Online Submission.

Prawat, R. S. (1991). Conversations with self and setting: A framework for thinking about teacher empowerment. *American Education Research Journal*, 28(4), 737-757.

Reid, W. A. (1979). Schools, teachers, and curriculum change: The moral dimension of theory-building. *Educational Theory*, 29(4), 325-336.

Ren, X. (2010). *Teachers professional development and principal's role* (教师专业发展与校长角色). Shijiazhuang: Hebei Education Press.

Romanish, B. (1991). *Empowering teachers restructuring schools for the 21<sup>st</sup> century*. Lanham, Md: University Press of America.

Rong, Z. (2005). Decentralization of power in basic education reform (论基础教育课程管理改革中的权力下放). *Journal of Curriculum and Textbooks*, 2005(9), 3-6.

Rouse, J. (1990). *Knowledge and power: Toward a political philosophy of science*. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.

Schein, E. H. (1992). *Organizational culture and leadership*. San Francisco: Jossy-Bass Inc., 12-14.

Schuber, W. H. (1986). *Curriculum: perspective, paradigm and possibility*. New York: Macmillan Publishing Company, 77.

Schwab, J. J. (1970). *The practical: A language for curriculum*. Washington, D. C.: National Education Association.

Sergiovanni, T. J. (2009). *The principalship: A reflective practice perspective*. Boston: Pearson.

Sheng, X., & Luo, R. (2004). Research on curriculum leadership. *Educational Research*, 2004(10), 54-59.

Sheridan, A. (1980). Michel Foucault: The will to truth. London: Routledge.

Short, P. M. (1992) Dimensions of teacher empowerment. Pennsylvania State University, Program in Educational Administration.

Short, P.M., & Rineheat, J.S. (1992). School participant empowerment scale. *Education* and *Psychological Measurement*, *54*(2), 951-960.

Snyder, J., Bolin, F., & Zumwalt, K. (1992). Curriculum implementation. In P. W. Jackson (Ed.), *Handbook of research on curriculum*. (pp., 402 - 435). New York: Macmillan.

Stenhouse, L. (1975). An introduction to curriculum research and development. London: Heinemann.

Thornburg, D. G., & Mungai, A. (2011). Teacher empowerment and school reform. Journal of Ethnographic & Qualitative Research, 5, 205-217.

Tyler, R. W., & University of Chicago. (1969). *Basic principles of curriculum and instruction*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

UNESCO (1996). *To survive—The present and future of Education World*. Translated by Beijing: Science and Education Press.

Vroom, V. H., & Yetton, P. W. (1975). *Leadership and decision-making*. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press.

- Wan, E. (2005). Teacher empowerment: Concepts, strategies, and implications for schools in Hong Kong. *Teacher College Record*, *107*(4), 842-861.
- Wang, L. (2005). Teacher empowerment: connotation, understanding and meaning(教师赋权: 内涵、理解及意义). *Inner Journal of Mongolia Normal University*, 7(3), 132-134.
- Wang, L., & Pan, H. (2000). Definition and strategy of teacher empowerment (教师彰权 益能的概念与实施策略). *Bulletin of Educational Research*, *44*(6), 173-199.
- Weiss, C. H., Cambone, J., & Wyeth, A. (1992). Trouble in paradise: Teacher conflicts in shared decision making. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 28(3), 350-367.
- Whitaker, K. S., & Moses, M. C. (1990). Teacher empowerment: A key to restructuring. *The Clearing house*, *64*(2), 127-130.
- White, P. A. (1992). Teacher empowerment under "ideal" school-site autonomy. *Education Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *14*(1), 69-82.
- Whitehead, A. N. (1938). *Modes of thought*. Cambridge: University Press.
- Wilson, S. M., & Coolican, M. J. (1996). How high and low-empowered teachers work with colleagues and school principals. *Journal of Education Thought*, *30*(2), 99-117.
- Wu, K. (1998). Educational sociology (教育社会学). Beijing: People's Education Press.
- Wu, Y. (2006). Empower, energizing and constructing self-autonomy classroom: The value orientation of classroom teaching reform (赋权增能构建自主课堂:课堂教学改革的价值取向). *Theory and Practice of Education*, *3*(1), 36-39.
- Xu, J. (2004). Teacher involvement: Actions of curriculum leaders (教师参与:课程领导的应有之举). *Journal of Curriculum and Textbooks*, 2004(12), 12-16.

- Xu, Y. (2001). Development of school-based curriculum: Concepts and ideas (校本课程 开发:观点和理念). *Global Education*, *122*(10), 45-50.
- Ye, L. (2001). *Teacher's role and teacher development* (教师角色与教师发展新探). Beijing: Science and Education Press, 144-145.
- Yu, Z. (2006). Curriculum reform and school curriculum leadership (课程变革与学校课程领导). Chongqing: Chongqing University Press, 259-268.
- Zhang, D. (2003). Curriculum construction, power intervention and humanistic spirit (课程建设•权力介入•人文精神). *Journal of Southwest Normal University*, *1*(5), 89-93.
- Zhang, L., & Su, Y. (2005). Research and analysis of high school teachers' training desire and demand in the context of new curriculum reform (新课改背景下中学教师培训愿望与需求调查分析). *Journal of Shanxi Institute of Education*, 2005(1), 115-118.
- Zhang, N. (2006). *Power, concept and culture: Research on Russian current curriculum policies* (权力•理念•文化—俄罗斯现行课程政策研究). Beijing: Science and Education Press, 49.
- Zhang, Z. (2005). From knowledge power to rule knowledge (从知识权力到权力知识明). *Journal of Academic Research*, 45(12), 14-20.
- Zhao, Z. (2004). *School Culture* (学校文化). Shanghai: East China Normal University Press, 11-12.
- Zhong, Q., Cui, R., & Zhang, H. (2001). *Interpretation on "basic education curriculum reform (trial implementation)*"(基础教育课程改革纲要(试行)解读). Shanghai: East China Normal University Press, 287.
- Zhou, S. (2004). Curriculum development and teacher professional development (课程发

展与教师发展). Taibei: Higher education press.

Zhou, X., & Qin, W. (2004). Research on high school teachers' career pressure (中学教师职业压力调查分析). *Journal of Liaoning Normal University*, 2004(3), 69-71.

Zembylas, M., & Papanastasiou, E. C. (2005). Modeling teacher empowerment: The role of job satisfaction. *Educational Research and Evaluation*, 11(5), 433-459.

# **Appendix A: Interview Outline:**

## For teachers in Dalian No. 24 Senior High School:

Identify personal information including the subject they are teaching, how long they have engaged in teaching and how long they have taught the new curriculum (a little teaching history of the interviewees).

Combined with my auditing and observation, identify the changes they have made in their pedagogy in order to cope with the new curriculum mandates.

- 1. What do you think about the NCR? Does it bring any changes to your teaching work? If yes, how and why you have made changes?
- 2. How do you carry on your daily classes? How do you make the syllabus according to the requirement of NCR?
- 3. What degree of autonomy do you have in making the syllabus for your various classes? Can you give some details by using an example?
- 4. To what extent do you work with your colleagues in planning and designing course syllabus? What elements emerge from collaborative planning and what is primarily your own work?
- 5. To what extent are you involved in the school's decision-making process and at what level and in what aspects of the school's program?
- 6. To what extent do you think the school supports teacher creativity and

- inventiveness? Can you give me any examples? Does the school have any programs to support your personal professional growth?
- 7. To what extent do you feel empowered as a teacher in your own classroom, in terms of making decisions about your own classroom responsibilities as a teacher? As a teacher in the school in terms of influencing school curriculum, school decision making, etc.? As a teacher in the region in terms of influencing regional policy and decision making, etc.?
- 8. To what extent has this empowerment been helped or hindered by the NCR efforts?
- 9. If you don't feel empowered, what is limiting you? Do you feel excluded from the school's decision making or do you not feel you have the autonomy to make your own class's syllabus? What are your suggestions and how do you want to make a change?
- 10. What does the school or region do to support your personal professional growth and development as a teacher? How does the school (administrators, directors, coordinators) help you with professional development? What new roles, if any, are you taking now in the school as a result of the NCR?
- 11. Overall, what effect do you think the NCR has had on your teaching practice and the outcomes of the students in your classroom? Can you give me any examples?

Enquire some of their personal information.

Ask their understanding of the new curriculum

Examine their roles in implementing the new curriculum.

Ask their attitude about teacher's empowerment in the new curriculum reform, how they interact with teachers in helping them implement the new curriculum, and their understandings of empowerment as a professional development.

**Appendix B: Sample of interview transcripts** 

**Author:** Do you pay attention to your own professional development?

**Interviewee:** Yes, I usually collect typical topics on the internet and download some

good teaching case. If there is an opportunity of training, I usually actively participate in

that.

**Author:** What is your motivation of your professional development?

Interviewee: For the development of students for sure. After the curriculum reform, the

curriculum content changed greatly. Some of the contents are not required in the

textbooks, but will be tested during examination. I have to add these knowledge points

into my daily classroom teaching. If I only teach knowledge from textbooks, it cannot

meet the requirement of examination. For example, in the textbook, students are only

required to understand numben and use of factorization, while cross-method is not

required. However, in the college entrance examination, the simplest way of solving

quadratics is cross-method. The other two ways are the most complex solutions.

Therefore, teachers should add more teaching resources during classroom teaching.

Normally, I not only teach them the theory but also how to analyze it.

**Author:** Except for the needs of students' development, is there anything else can

motivate your professional development?

140

**Teacher:** From another perspective, it is to meet my own needs. Teachers in the school are often compared with others, for example, whose class performance is good. Our bonuses are also directly linked with students' achievements. In addition, teachers with good performance are more valued by school administrators. The status in school is also relatively higher.

**Author:** How do you think of your school's current support of teacher professional development?

**Teacher:** It's hard to say. Teachers can't completely develop with their own ideas. We can only develop by the opportunity and method that the school provides. Sometimes the requirements from the school may conflict with the actual situation. We have no way of solving that. The school also has some practical difficulties. It cannot fully meet the needs of teacher development. In addition, in order to ensure the students' test scores, the school cannot allow teachers' free development.